YEDITEPE UNIVERSITY INSTITUTE OF HEALTH SCIENCES DEPARTMENT OF PHARMACEUTICAL CHEMISTRY

THIAZOLIDINE CARBOXYLIC ACID DERIVATIVES AS ANTIOXIDANT MOLECULES; SYNTHESIS AND EVALUATION

MASTER of CHEMISTRY THESIS

REYHAN KAHVECİ ULUGÖL

ISTANBUL - 2015

TC

YEDITEPE UNIVERSITY INSTITUTE OF HEALTH SCIENCES DEPARTMENT OF PHARMACEUTICAL CHEMISTRY

TC

THIAZOLIDINE CARBOXYLIC ACID DERIVATIVES AS ANTIOXIDANT MOLECULES; SYNTHESIS AND EVALUATION

MASTER of CHEMISTRY THESIS

REYHAN KAHVECİ ULUGÖL

SUPERVISOR

Prof. Dr. HÜLYA AKGÜN

CO-ADVISOR Assist. Prof. Dr. FİLİZ ESRA ÖNEN BAYRAM

ISTANBUL-2015

THESIS APPROVAL FORM

Institute: Yeditepe University Institute of Health SciencesProgramme: Pharmaceutical Chemistry Master's ProgrammeTitle of the Thesis: Thiazolidine carboxylic acid derivatives as antioxidant molecules;synthesis and evaluationOwner of the Thesis: Reyhan Kahveci UlugölExamination Date: 20.05.2015

This study have approved as a Master/Doctorate Thesis in regard to content and quality by the Jury.

Chair of the Jury:	Prof. Dr. Hülya Akgün
Supervisor	Yeditepe Üniversitesi
Member/Examiner:	Prof. Dr. Akgül YEŞİLADA
	Kermerburgaz Üniversitesi
Member/Examiner:	Prof. Dr. Meriç KÖKSAL AKKOÇ
	Yeditepe Üniversitesi
Member/Examiner:	Yrd. Doç. Dr. Hande SİPAHİ Glanele
	Yeditepe Üniversitesi
Co-advisor	Yrd. Doç. Dr. Esra ÖNEN BAYRAM
	Yeditepe Üniversitesi

APPROVAL

This thesis has been deemed by the jury in accordance with the relevant articles of Yeditepe University Graduate Education and Examinations Regulation and has been approved by Administrative Board of Institute with decision dated 25.5.20% and numbered 2015%

Signature

Prof. Dr. Bayram YILMAZ Director of Institute of Health Sciences

DECLARATION

I hereby declare that this thesis is my own work and that, to the best of my knowledge and belief, it contains no material previously published or written by another person nor material which has been accepted for the award of any other degree except where due acknowledgment has been made in the text.

Date	:
Signature	:
Name Surname	

dedicated to my son, Kaya...

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I would like to emphasise my appreciation to the following individuals for their advice, help and encouragement throughout this project.

First of all, I would like to express my gratitude to my supervisor, The Dean of Faculty of Pharmacy at Yeditepe University, Prof. Dr. Hülya Akgün for her support in all aspects and also for her brilliance in the laboratory skills.

I would like to express my gratitude to my co-advisor Assist. Prof. Dr. Filiz Esra Önen Bayram for her patience, guidance, understanding and assistance throughout the course of my studies and during the preparation of this thesis and also for providing me with laboratory facilities.

I would like to express my gratitude and deep appreciation to Assist. Prof. Dr. Hande Sipahi for her valuable support and assistance throughout the *in vitro* activity studies.

I would like to express my gratitude to Assist. Prof. Dr. Ebru Türköz Acar for her support in all aspects and help in analytical studies.

I would like to express my gratitude to Assoc. Prof. Dr. Barkin Berk for his excellent guidance and support in all aspects.

I would like thank all the members of Faculty of Pharmacy at Yeditepe University especially my colleagues Kerem Buran and Şükran Özdatlı for their help and support.

I would like to thank Prof. Dr. Hakan Göker at Ankara University, Faculty of Pharmacy, Department of Pharmaceutical Chemistry for ¹H NMR, ¹³C NMR and LC-MS analyses.

Last but not least, I would like to thank my beloved familiy, especially to my husband Volkan for his unfailing care, motivation and support in all aspects.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

APPROVALiii
DECLARATION iv
DEDICATION
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS
TABLE OF CONTENTS
LIST OF SYMBOLS AND ABBREVIATIONS
LIST OF TABLES
LIST OF FIGURES xiv
LIST OF SCHEMES xv
ABSTRACTxiv
ÖZET xvii
1. INRODUCTION AND AIM 1
2. GENERAL INFORMATION
2.1. Sulfur Element
2.2. Organosulfur Compounds In Human Metabolism 4
2.2.1. Thiols (Sulfhydryls) / Disulfides
2.2.2. Thiomethyl compounds
2.2.2.1. Methionine
2.2.2.2. S-adenosylmethionine (SAM)
2.2.3. Sulfur containing other important molecules
2.3. Reactive and Unreactive Thiols
2.4. Biological Functions of Cysteine Thiols14
2.4.1. Metal binding cysteine residues
2.4.2. Catalytic nucleophilicity of cysteine thiols
2.4.3. Regulatory functions of cysteine thiols
2.4.3.1. Oxidative stress
2.4.3.2. S-nitrosylation, S-hydroxylation and S-glutathiolation
2.4.4. Redox catalytic functions of cysteine thiols

2.5. Glutathione (GSH)	17
2.5.1. Structure of GSH	17
2.5.2. Functions of GSH	18
2.5.3. Consumption and recovery of GSH	19
2.5.4. The importance of cysteine abundancy in GSH recovery	20
2.6. Some Mechanisms Regarding The Cysteine Reactivity	21
2.7. Neurotoxicity of Cysteine	22
2.8. Antioxidant Capacity of Cysteine	22
2.9. Some Important Cysteine Prodrugs	23
2.9.1. N-acetylcylsteine (NAC)	23
2.9.2. Thiazolidine derivatives (TCA)	24
2.10. Thiazolidines: structure, synthesis, NMR characterization and biological activity	28
2.10.1. Structure	28
2.10.2. Synthesis of Thiazolidine-4-carboxylic acid	28
2.10.3. ¹ H NMR Characterization	33
2.10.4. Biological activities of 2-phenyl thiazolidine carboxylic acid derivatives	35
3. MATERIALS AND METHODS	37
3.1. Chemicals	37
3.2. Analytical Methods	37
3.2.1. General Procedure : Preparation of 2(<i>RS</i>)-(phenyl) thiazolidine-4(<i>R</i>)-carboxylic derivatives (1-12)	acid 37
3.2.2. Melting point determination	37
3.2.3. Controls with thin layer chromatography (TLC) system	37
3.2.4. Spectrometric analysis	38
3.2.4.1. Infrared (IR) spectra	38
3.2.4.2. HPLC spectra	38
3.2.4.3. UV Spectrophotometric determination	38
3.2.4.4. ¹ H-NMR spectra	38
3.2.4.5. ¹³ C-NMR spectra	38

3.2.4.6. LC-MS spectra
3.3. <i>In vitro</i> Activity Test Procedures
3.3.1. The 1,1-diphenyl-2-picrylhydrazyl (DPPH) radical scavenging assay
3.3.2. Cupric reducing antioxidant capacity (CUPRAC)
4. EXPERIMENTAL
Spectral data is given for the molecules 1-12
4.1. (2 <i>RS</i> -4 <i>R</i>)-2-phenyl-1,3-thiazolidine-4-carboxylic acid (Compound 1) [21, 33-35, 38, 39]
4.2. (2 <i>RS</i> -4 <i>R</i>)-2-(2-methoxyphenyl)-1,3-thiazolidine-4-carboxylic acid (Compound 2) Cas no : 1029800-35-8
4.3. (2 <i>RS</i> -4 <i>R</i>)-2-(2-methylphenyl)-1,3-thiazolidine-4-carboxylic acid (Compound 3) Cas no: 1290211-93-6
4.4. (2RS-4R)-2-(2-bromophenyl)-1,3-thiazolidine-4-carboxylic acid (Compound 4) [35] 44
4.5. (2RS-4R)- 2-(3-chlorophenyl)-1,3-thiazolidine-4-carboxylic acid (Compound 5) [35] 45
4.6.(2RS-4R)-2-(4-chlorophenyl)-1,3-thiazolidine-4-carboxylicacid(Compound6)[39]
4.7. (2RS-4R)- 2-(4-methoxyphenyl)-1,3-thiazolidine-4-carboxylic acid (Compound 7) [33-36
4.8. (2RS-4R)- 2-(4-methylphenyl)-1,3-thiazolidine-4-carboxylic acid (Compound 8) [37, 38]. 38]
4.9. (2 <i>RS</i> -4 <i>R</i>)-2-(4-nitrophenyl)-1,3-thiazolidine-4-carboxylic acid (Compound 9) [35, 39] 49
4.10. (2 <i>RS</i> -4 <i>R</i>)-2-(2,6-difluorophenyl)-1,3-thiazolidine-4-carboxylic acid (Compound 10) Cas no : 1290229-85-4
4.11. (<i>2RS</i> -4 <i>R</i>)-2-(2,3-difluorophenyl)-1,3-thiazolidine-4-carboxylic acid (Compound 11) Cas no : 1344968-75-7
4.12. (<i>2RS</i> -4 <i>R</i>)- 2-(2,3-dichlorophenyl)-1,3-thiazolidine-4-carboxylic acid (Compound 12) Cas no : 1212481-14-5
5. DISCUSSION AND CONCLUSION
5.1. Chemistry
5.2. Biology
5.2.1. The DPPH assay

5.2.2. The Cupric ion reducing antioxidant capacity (CUPRAC) assay	64
5.3. Conclusion	65
6. REFERENCES	67



LIST OF SYMBOLS AND ABBREVIATIONS

А	Absorbace
AIDS	Acquired immune deficiency syndrome
APAP	N-acetyl-p-aminophenol
Aq	Aqueous
ATP	Adenosine triphosphate
BBB	Blood brain barrier
BHT	Buthylated hydroxytoluene
CUPRAC	Cupric reducing antioxidant capacity
Cys	Cysteine
d	Doublet
dd	Doublet of doublet
DMSO	Dimethyl sulphoxide
DNA	Deoxyribonucleic acid
DPPH	2,2-diphenyl-1-picrylhydrazyl
EtOH	Ethanol
FT-IR	Fourier transform infrared
GCS	γ-L-glutamyl-L-cysteine
GS	Glutathione synthetase
GSH	Glutathione
GSH-Px	Glutathione peroxidase
GSSG	Glutathione disulfidie
HPLC	High performance liquid chromatography
IR	Infra red
LC-MS	Liquid chromatography-mass spectrometery
m	Multiplet
MeOH	Methanol
NAC	N-acetylcysteine
Nc	Neocuproine
NMR	Nuclear magnetic resonance
NOE	Nuclear overhauser effect
PBS	Phosphate buffered saline
Ppm	Parts-per-million

PTCA	Propyl-thiazolidine carboxylic acid
ROS	Reactive oxygen species
RT	Room temperature
Rt	Retention time
S	Singlet
S	Sulfur
SAM	S-adenosylmethionine
t	Triplet
TCA	Thiazolidine carboxylic acid
TEAC	Trolox equivalent antioxidant coefficient
TLC	Thin layer chromatography
Tlx	Trolox
Trx	Thioredoxin
UV	Ultra violet
v/v	Volume/volume
w/v	Weight/volume
3	Molar extinction coefficient

LIST OF TABLES

Table 1. Oxidation numbers and pKa values of some thiols and disulfides. 4
Table 2. Plasma concentrations of some low molecular weight thiols and disulfides5
Table 3. Oxidation number of some thiomethyl compounds
Table 4. Examples of some sulfur compounds in metabolism
Table 5. 2-substituted-alkyl and aryl derivatives of TCA as prodrugs of cysteine25
Table 6. Synthethic pathways for the synthesis of 2-substituted TCA derivatives 30
Table 7. Synthethic pathways for the synthesis of 2-substituted TCA derivatives31
Table 8. Synthethic pathways for the synthesis of 2-substituted TCA derivatives
Table 9. Biological activities of the compounds 1, 4, 5 and 6 reported in the literature.
Table 10. Biological activities of the compounds 7, 8 and 9 reported in the literature. 36
Table 11. RS/RR Ratios of compounds 1-12. 58
Table 12. IC ₅₀ values of the compounds 1-4 and 10-12 against BHT molecule in DPPH
assay

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1. Sulfur cycle in biological organisms. 3
Figure 2. Reduced thiol and oxidized disulfide forms in proteins9
Figure 3. Intramolecular and intermolecular disulfide bond illustration of one monomer
of insulin molecule
Figure 4. Deoxyhemoglobin PDBID: 2HBS11
Figure 5. Deoxyhemoglobin-SH drug complex PDBID: 3WCP. Two reactive cysteine
residues of hemoglobin are illustrated in yellow11
Figure 6. Relationship between pH and thiolate occurance
Figure 7. A. pH values of cell compartments and extracellular space. B. Effect of steric
hindrence and pKa on reactivity
Figure 8. Zinc finger motif with 2 cysteines and 2 histidines
Figure 9. Glutathione, glycine, cysteine and glutathione concentrations in the cells 20
Figure 10. 2-Substituted TCA molecule as a diastereomeric mixture
Figure 11. A. ¹ H NMR of 2-Aromatic thiazolidine-4-carboxyamide ring B. and C. NOE
between C4-H and C2-H major and minor peaks
Figure 12. 2S,4R (major) and 2R,4R (minor) diastereoisomers of compound 8
Figure 13. NMR spectrum of the compound 8
Figure 14. ¹³ C spectrum of compound 8
Figure 15. IC ₅₀ determination of compound 1260
Figure 16. (a) Structures capable of releasing cysteine in MeOH. (b) Structures that are
stable and do not open to release cysteine in MeOH63

LIST OF SCHEMES

Scheme 1. (2 <i>RS</i> ,4 <i>R</i>)-2-pheny-thiazolidine-4-carboxylic acid derivatives 1-122
Scheme 2. Transsulfuration pathway
Scheme 3. Various functions of cysteine thiols14
Scheme 4. Diseases caused by oxidative stress
Scheme 5. S-nitrosylation, S-hydroxylation and S-glutathiolation processes16
Scheme 6. Rate limiting step of GSH synthesis17
Scheme 7. Second step of glutathione synthesis
Scheme 8. Redox catalytic functions of protein thiols and GSH
Scheme 9. Inactivation of hydroperoxides by glutathione peroxidase
Scheme 10. Direct inactivation of carbon based radicals by glutathione
Scheme 11. Glutatione (GSH) oxidation and reduction cycle
Scheme 12. Fate of <i>L</i> -cysteine in biological environment
Scheme 13. 2-Substituted TCA derivatives with the corresponding sugars
Scheme 14. 2-Substituted TCA derivatives with the corresponding aldose
monosaccarides
Scheme 15. TCA synthesis pathways in acidic (path II) and basic (path I) environment.
Scheme 16. Synthesis of substituted 2-phenyl-4-carboxylic acid thiazolidine derivatives
1-12
Scheme 17. Reaction mechanism of the compounds 1-12 as diastereomeric
mixture

ABSTRACT

ULUGOL, R. K. Thiazolidine carboxylic acid derivatives as antioxidant molecules; synthesis and evaluation. Yeditepe University Institute of Health Science, Thesis on Pharmaceutical Chemistry Master of Science Degree Programme, Istanbul, 2015.

Oxidative stress that corresponds to a significant increase in free radical concentration in cells can cause considerable damage to crucial biological macromolecules if not prevented by cellular defense mechanisms. The low-molecular-weight thiol glutathione (GSH) constitutes one of the main intracellular antioxidants. It is synthesized via cysteine, an amino acid found only in limited amounts in cells because of its neurotoxicity. Thus, to ensure an efficient GSH synthesis in case of an oxidative stress, cysteine should be provided extracellularly. Yet, given its nucleophilic properties and its rapid conversion into cystine, its corresponding disulfide, cysteine is usually supplemented in a prodrug approach. In this study, the antioxidant properties of o, m or p substituted (2RS,4R)-2-phenyl-thiazolidine-4-carboxylic acid derivatives (1-12), heterocycles that potentially convert into cysteine in physiological conditions, were investigated. (2RS,4R)-2-phenyl-thiazolidine-4-carboxylic acid derivatives were synthesized by condensing L-cysteine with a series of mono or di substituted benzaldehydes. Compounds were characterized by LC-MS, FT-IR, ¹H NMR, ¹³C NMR and elemental analisis. In vitro antioxidant properties were evaluated using the classical 1,1-diphenyl-2-picrylhydrazyl (DPPH) radical scavenging assay and by determining the cupric reducing antioxidant capacity (CUPRAC).

Compounds are shown to exhibit relevant antioxidative properties that are not only attributed to cysteine release but also to the direct antioxidant capacity of the thiazolidine cycle itself.

Keywords: Thiazolidine carboxylic acid derivatives, antioxidant, *L*-cysteine, free radical, DPPH, CUPRAC.

ÖZET

ULUGÖL, R. K. Antioksidan etki gösteren bazı tiyazolidin karboksilik asit türevlerinin sentez ve değerlendirilmesi. Yeditepe Üniversitesi, Sağlık Bilimleri Enstitüsü Farmasötik Kimya Programı Bilim Uzmanlığı Tezi, İstanbul 2015.

Oksidatif stres, hücre icerisindeki serbest radikal konsantrasyonunda önemli bir artısa sebep olur. Bu artış hücresel savunma mekanizmaları tarafından önlenemediği taktirde hayati önem taşıyan biyolojik makromoleküllerin zarar görmesi söz konusu olur. Düşük moleküler ağırlıklı tiyoller grubunda bulunan glutatyon (GSH) molekülü, hücre içerisindeki başlıca antioksidan yapılardan birisidir. GSH molekülü, nörotoksik olduğu için hücre içerisinde sınırlı miktarda bulunan sistein aminoasidi kullanılarak sentezlenir. Oksidatif stres durumunda yeterli GSH sentezinin sağlanması için sistein hücre dışından temin edilmelidir. Ancak sistein aminoasidinin nükleofilik yapısı ve disülfit formu olan sistin molekülüne hızlıca dönüsebiliyor olması glutatyon sentezi için sisteinin organizmaya önilaç formunda verilmesini gerektirmektedir. Bu çalışmada, fizyolojik ortamda potansiyel olarak sisteine dönüşen o, m veya p sübstitüe (2RS,4R)-2-feniltivazolidin-4-karboksilik asit türevlerinin (1-12) antioksidan özellikleri incelenmiştir. (2RS,4R)-2-fenil-tiyazolidin-4-karboksilik asit türevleri, bir dizi mono veya disübstitüe benzaldehit molekülünün L-sistein ile kondenzasyonu sonucunda sentezlenmiştir. Elde edilen bileşikler LC-MS, FT-IR, ¹H NMR, ¹³C NMR ve elemental analiz yöntemleri kullanılarak karakterize edilmiştir. In vitro antioksidan aktiviteler 1,1-difenil-2pikrilhidrazil (DPPH) radikalini süpürme kapasitesinin belirlenmesi ve indirgenmiş bakırda antioksidan kapasitenin saptanması (CUPRAC) yöntemleri kullanılarak tayin edilmistir.

Yapılan bu çalışma ile bileşiklerin gösterdiği kayda değer miktardaki antioksidatif özelliğin, sadece sistein salımı ile değil tiyazolidin halkasının direkt olarak antioksidan özellik göstermesi ile de sağlandığı gösterilmiştir.

Anahtar kelimeler: tiyazolidin karboksilik asit türevleri, antioksidan, *L*-sistein, serbest radikal, DPPH, CUPRAC

1. INRODUCTION AND AIM

Production of free radicals is a consequence of the continuous oxidative reactions that take place in aerobic organisms. Biological systems have strong enzymatic and nonenzymatic defense mechanisms in order to cope with free radicals and there is a balance between radicals and the defense mechanisms. However these defense mechanisms remain unsufficient when a significant increase in the free radical concentration occur which then cause considerable damage to crucial biological macromolecules such as DNA, proteins, carbohydrates and lipids. Such a situation is called oxidative stress (1).

GSH is one of the most important low molecular weight thiol which acts directly or indirectly as an antioxidant when the concentration of free radicals rises in the cells and in the extracellular environment. GSH is composed of cysteine, glutamate and glycine moiety and its synthesis is limited by intracellular cysteine concentration. Since it is toxic, cysteine is found only in very small amounts in cells. Therefore, increasing the intracellular cysteine concentration boosts GSH levels and protects cells against oxidative damage (2).

Besides boosting GSH levels in the cells, cysteine can also act as a direct radical scavenger due to its thiol function (3-6). Yet, because of its toxicity, cysteine supplementation should be administrated as a prodrug (7). Thiazolidine-4-carboxylic acid (TCA) derivatives are reported to release cysteine by both enzymatic and spontaneous mechanisms (8-14). In this study, (2RS,4R)-2-phenyl-thiazolidine-4-carboxylic acid derivatives (**1-12**) were synthesized with a series of aromatic aldehydes in order to evaluate their *in vitro* antioxidant properties.

The compounds **1-12** were synthesized using cysteine and different aromatic aldehydes as shown in Scheme 1. Types of the aromatic aldehydes were chosen in order to discuss the effect of the substituents on the phenyl ring. Position, electron withdrawing or donating properties of the substituents on the phenyl ring of the aldehydes were considered.



R	Compound #	R	Compound #
Ph-	1		
o -CH ₃ O-Ph	2		
o-CH3-Ph-	3	p-CH ₃ -Ph-	8
o-Br-Ph-	4	p -NO ₂ -Ph-	9
<i>m</i> -Cl-Ph-	5	2,6-difluoro-Ph-	10
p - <mark>Cl</mark> -Ph-	6	2,3-difluoro-Ph	11
p-CH ₃ O-Ph-	7	2,3-dichloro-Ph-	12

Scheme 1. (2RS,4R)-2-pheny-thiazolidine-4-carboxylic acid derivatives 1-12

It is reported in the literature that the compounds **1-12** were previously synthesized with similar synthetic pathway as given in the material method and some of them were used as important intermediates (15-32). Compounds **1**, **4**, **5**, **6**, **7**, **8** and **9** were previously evaluated for several biologic activities including antivirutic (21), antifungal (33), antibacterial (34), urease inhibition (35), tyrosinase inhibition (36), anticancer activity (37), hepatoprotectivity (38), and prevention of the β -amyloid peptide aggregation activity (39). In this study, the *in vitro* antioxidant properties of the compounds **1-12** were evaluated for the first time.

2. GENERAL INFORMATION

2.1. Sulfur Element

Sulfur is found in 6A group of the periodic table and have both oxidizing and reducing ability (40). It can oxidize carbon and some metals while it can reduce oxygen. As it is compared to oxygen, sulfur have less electronegativity according to its location in the periodic table. Depending on the compound; sulfur can take oxidation numbers between 2- and 6+ as shown in Tables 1, 3 and 4. Oxidation of carbon by sulfur ends up with a negatively charged sulfur residue, as a result of that, sulfur compounds in living cells are found in the oxidation number 2- (R-S-R', R-S-S-R' or R–SH) (41). Electronegativity difference between oxygen and sulfur leads thiols to have weaker hydrogen bonds than alcohols, the result is thiols have lower pKa values in comparison with alcohols (42). Sulfur is a vital non-metal element for all living organisms regarding the very important properties it owns. It participates to the structure of many biological components like proteins or vitamins (43). Totally, in human body, we have sulfur as the third most often encountered element and in breastmilk sulfur is the sixth most abundant element (44). Plants are one of the most substantial sulfur reserve for animals (45). Sulfur cycle in biological organisms is shown in Figure 1.



Figure 1. Sulfur cycle in biological organisms.

The side chain of almost every protein structure contains sulfur in form of methionine, cysteine and cystine. Generally, organosulfur compounds in metabolism can be classified in three groups; thioether molecules, thiol/disulfide molecules and other types of sulfur containing molecules like xenobiotics, glycosaminocans and vitamins (46).

2.2. Organosulfur Compounds In Human Metabolism

2.2.1. Thiols (Sulfhydryls) / Disulfides

Name	Structure	рКа	Oxidation # of S
GSH	HOOC NH ₂ NH COOH	8.6	2-
Cysteine	HS OH NH ₂	8.3	2-
Cystine	H ₃ C NH ₂ S O OH O NH ₂ OH	7.75	1-
Homocysteine	HS NH ₂ OH	8.8	2-
N-Acetylcysteine	O NH H ₃ C	9.5	2-

Table 1. Oxidation numbers and pKa values of some thiols and disulfides.

Thiols, that have several important functions like protein folding, redox signaling and supporting the defense mechanism of cells against oxidative stress, can be found both in cells and plasma (4, 47-54). Cysteine, cysteinylglycin, homocysteine, glutathione, γ -glutamiylcysteine and hydrogen sulfide are simple thiol compounds and thiol derivatives which can either exist in free reduced forms, or be integrated in low molecular weight disulfides or protein mixed disulfides as shown in Table 2 (49).

Smaalaa	Plasma	
Species	Concentration (µM)	
<u>Total albumin</u>	527-783	
Protein thiols	400-600	
Albumin thiol	422± 52	
Cysteine		
Total	202-281	
Reduced	8.3-10.7	
LMW disülfite	41-63	
Protein mixed disulfite	145-176	
Homocysteine		
Total	6.5-11.9	
Reduced	0.17-0.32	
LMW disülfite	1.0-1.2	
Protein mixed disulfite	7.3-10.4	
Thiolactone	0-34.8	
Glutathione		
Total	4.9-7.3	
Reduced	2.0-5.1	
LMW disülfite	0.7-1.6	
Protein mixed disulfite	0.7-1.9	
<u>y-Glutamiylcysteine</u>		
Total	3.1-5.4	
Reduced	0.06	
Hydrogen sulfide		
Protein mixed disulfite	1×10 ⁻⁴	

Table 2. Plasma concentrations of some low molecular weight thiols and disulfides.

2.3. Thiomethyl compounds

The most important thiomethyl compounds are methionine and Sadenosylmethione, both are crucial for thiol homeostasis.

Name	Structure	Oxidation # of S
Methionine	H ₃ C ^{-S} NH ₂ OH	2-
SAM S-Adenosylmethionine	O'OC NH ₃ H ₃ C N N N N N N N N N N N N N N N N N N N	2-

Table 3. Oxidation number of some thiomethyl compounds.

2.3.1.1. Methionine

Hydrophobicity of methionine comes from the sulfur moiety –SCH₃ (42). As being a very hydrophobic aminoacid; methionine is usually present in the lipid part of the cell membrane. As a consequence of its hydrophobicity, methionine starts protein synthesis; binding met-tRNA^{met} to ribosomal subunit (56). In some proteins, zones with methionine can be prone to interact with cell surface, as a result of that, methionine can be oxidized to methionine sulfoxide. This kind of methionine parts are called endogenous antioxidants (57). A very important semi-essential aminoacid cysteine can be synthesised from methionine in human metabolism as it is illustrated in Scheme 2 (57).

2.3.1.2. S-adenosylmethionine (SAM)

Enzymatic reaction of *L*-methionine and adenosinetriphosphate (ATP) ends up with SAM production.

SAM is a very important co-substrate which has various functions in transmethylation, transsulfuration and aminopropylation processes as shown in Scheme 2 (58).



Scheme 2. Transsulfuration pathway.

Transsulfuration process ends up with the synthesis of aminoacid cysteine which is an absolute must in order to synthesize glutathione (2, 57).

2.3.2. Sulfur containing other important molecules

Drugs, glycosaminoglycans and vitamins are important sulfur containing compound groups, these groups are exemplified in Table 4. Hydrochlorothiazide is a sulfur containing drug molecule used for the treatment of hypertension (59). As an example of glycosaminoglycans; chondroitin-6-sulfate is an important component of joints which provides strength to cartilages (60). Biotin is an important sulfur containing vitamin which takes place in the synthesis of fatty acids, isoleucine, and valine.



Table 4. Examples of some sulfur compounds in metabolism.

2.4. Reactive and Unreactive Thiols

Thiols can be divided into two groups according to their reactivity as reactive and unreactive. Two important factors determine the reactivity of a cysteine residue. First factor is accesibility. If the cysteine is embedded inside the protein structure, where it is highly hydrophobic, it is usually accepted as unreactive. Its role is limited to conformational regulations via disulfide bonds (Figure 2) (61). While peptide bonds bind aminoacids together and form protein backbone; disulfide bonds occur between the thiol groups of cysteines.



Figure 2. Reduced thiol and oxidized disulfide forms in proteins.

Interchain and intrachain disulfide bonds provide conformation and functionalize the protein skeletal. As the proteins become folded and acquire their three dimensional conformation, they are ready to accomplish their biological roles in the metabolism (62). For instance, the insulin protein has four chains (the A, B, C and D chains). Figure 3 illustrates A and B chain that are bound to each other through three disulfide bonds with two interchain and one intrachain disulfides. These chemical modifications provide the protein's quaternary structure.



Figure 3. Intramolecular and intermolecular disulfide bond illustration of one monomer of insulin molecule.

Unreactive thiols are reported to be acting very slowly against thiol binding reagents in comparison with reactive thiols or simple thiols. Hemoglobin has totally 6 cysteine residues, 4 of them are unreactive and form 2 disulfide bonds. The remaining 2 other are reactive and are prone to be oxidized by any thiol binding reagent as shown in Figure 5. This proves the participation and stability of unreactive thiols in disulfide bonds (63).



Figure 4. Deoxyhemoglobin PDBID: 2HBS.



Figure 5. Deoxyhemoglobin-SH drug complex PDBID: 3WCP. Two reactive cysteine residues of hemoglobin are illustrated in yellow.

Second factor is pKa. Thiols with low pKa values and that can easily lose their proton in physiological pH values are identified as reactive thiols (61). The cysteine aminoacid has a thiol function which has pKa 8.3, it is relatively closer to biological pH value comparing with other aminoacids. Even a slight increase in the environmental pH may lead cysteine residues to behave as nucleophiles or sudden charge interchanges may cause regional molecular surface alterations that can effect the interactions of a protein with the environment.



Figure 6. Relationship between pH and thiolate occurance.

In slightly alkaline medium thiols tend to loose their proton and thiolate form occurs as shown in Figure 6.

According to the pH values of the cell compartments that are shown in Figure 7A, the pH in the cells have a reducing effect on thiols, while in plasma oxidized forms are more common as it is showed in Table 2 (64, 65).



в



Figure 7. A. pH values of cell compartments and extracellular space. B. Effect of steric hindrence and pKa on reactivity.

2.5. Biological Functions of Cysteine Thiols



Scheme 3. Various functions of cysteine thiols.

The thiol function of cysteine has diverse functional roles as shown in Scheme 3. While structural and metal binding cysteines bring structural persistence, or conformational diversity to proteins, redox catalytic and regulatory cysteines act in order to decrease the damaging effects of oxidative stress (54).

2.5.1. Metal binding cysteine residues

Metal-cysteine complexes, for instance zinc finger motifs (Figure 8), can work in order to stabilize protein structure or act as redox switches (66-69).



Figure 8. Zinc finger motif with 2 cysteines and 2 histidines.

2.5.2. Catalytic nucleophilicity of cysteine thiols

Cysteine is found as the central aminoacid in the active sites of some enzymes. For instance in thiol protease enzyme class, cysteine behaves as the catalytic nucleophile and forms enzyme-substrate acyl intermediate (70).

2.5.3. Regulatory functions of cysteine thiols

2.4.3.1 Oxidative stress

Oxidative stress can be defined as the situation where free radicals defeat antioxidant mechanism of the cells and damage several important parts like DNA, lipids and proteins. The consequences of oxidative damage are proved to cause many diseases as illustrated in Scheme 4 (71).



Scheme 4. Diseases caused by oxidative stress.

2.4.3.2 S-nitrosylation, S-hydroxylation and S-glutathiolation

Cell signaling process can be activated as a consequence of reactions of protein binded thiolate anion with reactive oxygen species (ROS), nitric oxide (NO) radical or glutathione disulfide (GSSG) molecule in order to cope with oxidative stress as shown in Scheme 5. Engagement of thiolate with NO and GSSG is revocable while binding of ROS can be irrevocable. Engagement of GSH with a S-OH is a kind of protection mechanism which prevents enzyme active sites from possible permanent damage of ROS (53).



Scheme 5. S-nitrosylation, S-hydroxylation and S-glutathiolation processes.

2.5.4. Redox catalytic functions of cysteine thiols

The equilibrium between GSH and GSSG represents the redox state of cells. Protein binded reactive thiols are more common than GSH molecule in the cells. In case of oxidative stress these reactive thiols are easily oxidized, GSH can recover these protein thiols and prevents irreversible oxidative damage by S-glutathiolation, which is a regulatory mechanism as mentioned in Scheme 5. Normally GSSG is found in cells but in small amounts like %1 of GSH concentration. The ascent in the concentration of GSSG indicates the exposure to oxidative stress since it binds with protein thiols and forms more stable molecules than GSSG itself, these molecules contribute cellular signaling. GSSG can be reduced back to GSH by the activity of glutathione reductase enzyme (48).

2.6. Glutathione (GSH)

2.6.1. Structure of GSH

GSH is one of the most important low molecular weight thiol which can work directly or indirectly when the concentration of free radicals rise in the cells and extracellular environment. Its constituents are cysteine, glutamate and glycine. The two enzymes which takes part in the synthesis process depend on ATP in order to work, γ -*L*glutamyl-*L*-cysteine synthesis is the rate limiting step as shown in Scheme 6, so the concentration of *L*-cysteine can limit or boost GSH synthesis according to the circumstances (48).



Scheme 7. Second step of glutathione synthesis.

2.6.2. Functions of GSH

In case of a stress caused by ROS and RNS, S-nitrosylation, S-glutathiolation and S-hydroxylation processes begin as shown in Scheme 8, and results with regulatory signals in order to control free radical attack as it is mentioned before. GSH attempts to recover S-nitrosylated or S-hydroxylated thiols by S-glutathionation and this gives rise to GSH levels to decrease. GSH can be re-synthesized by recovery of its constituents but the main path is synthesing GSH initially (72).



Scheme 8. Redox catalytic functions of protein thiols and GSH.

During the inactivation process of hydroperoxides, glutathione peroxidase converts two GSH molecules to a GSSG using hydroperoxides as its substrate. This is an indirect mechanism of GSH to cope with hydroperoxides as shown in Scheme 9.

H ₂ O ₂₊ 2GSH	Glutathione peroxidase	$2H_2O + GSSG$
ROOH + 2GSH	Glutathione peroxidase	2ROH + GSSG

Scheme 9. Inactivation of hydroperoxides by glutathione peroxidase.

GSH can also directly inactivate carbon based radicals and helps cells to cope with oxidative stress in a direct way as shown in Scheme 10 (73).



Scheme 10. Direct inactivation of carbon based radicals by glutathione.

2.6.3. Consumption and recovery of GSH

Consumption and regeneration of GSH is depicted in Scheme 11. Although it is possible for the metabolism to recover GSH, some of the conjugations can be irreversible and GSH amount can be decreased. GSH synthesis is regulated with the reactions which are shown in Scheme 6 and 7. In Scheme 6, GSH amount is the factor which controls GCS enzyme. As the GSH amount decreases reaction rate of the synthesize will increase but this will be a temporary effect (74).



Scheme 11. Glutatione (GSH) oxidation and reduction cycle.
2.6.4. The importance of cysteine abundancy in GSH recovery

The abundancy glutamate, glycine, cysteine and glutamate in the cells are shown in Figure 9. Both glycine and glutamate are above their Michalis Menten constant (Km) in sometic cells while free cysteine can be found approximately around its Km. Amounts of free cysteine in neurons is limited because of its neurotoxic behavior (75-77).



Figure 9. Glutathione, glycine, cysteine and glutathione concentrations in the cells.

This makes cysteine aminoacid the limiting compound for glutathione synthesis. Although sulfhydryl groups usually accepted to be acting like antioxidants, high amounts of cysteine can be cytotoxic for the cells because of its nucleophilic behavior, its interaction with trace metals and its rapid transformation into its less soluble disulfide form cystine so it can not be used as a drug in order to support GSH synthesis (7).

2.7. Some Mechanisms Regarding the Cysteine Reactivity

Possible forms and reactions of free cysteine is depicted in Scheme 12. When cysteine is dissolved in water, its carboxyl and amino groups are ionised (2). Small portions of cysteines also lose their hydrogen from their thiol group and highly reactive thiolate occurs through dissolvation. In a slightyl basic medium of the cells, thiolate occurence will increase to six percent (%6) (3). Nucleophilic behaviour (3) or one electron transfer to metals (4) are possible paths. Cysteine thiolate gives one of its electrons to Cu^{2+} or Fe^{3+} or Fe^{2+} , two thiyl radicals combine and forms less soluble cystine (5). Under heavy oxidative stress consecutively *L*-cysteine sulfinic acid and sulfonic acid occurs (6,7) (77-79).

Free radicals can break of the hydrogen bond of thiol leaving one electron to the sulfur (8). Under mild conditions cystine occurs (9) while heavy oxidative stress results with consequently *L*-cysteine sulfinic and sulfonic acids (10,11) (80).



Scheme 12. Fate of *L*-cysteine in biological environment.

2.8. Neurotoxicity of Cysteine

In neurons, interactive relation of thiolate and metals results with neurotoxicity. There are some hypothesis for the toxicity mechanisms. First one is that copper helps sulfur transferring one of its electron to oxygen, subsequently superoxide, hydrogenperoxide and hydroxyl radical occurs (78, 81). Secondly sulfur transfers one of its electron to cell-free Fe³⁺, but not physiologic Fe³⁺, and cause Fe²⁺ formation which can oxidize hydrogen peroxide to hydroxyl radical that can cause brain damage (82).

2.9. Antioxidant Capacity of Cysteine

Cysteine can exhibit antioxidant properties by two different mechanisms. First mechanism is to support GSH synthesis and second one is to act like radical scavenger itself. When the cysteine concentration is low; first mechanism will be dominant. As the cysteine concentration rises, second mechanism can be active too (2, 3).

Direct oxidation of *L*-cysteine by free (Cu^{2+} , Fe^{2+} or Fe^{3+}) or biological sourced (hemin) metals is possible. Being target molucule for some metals protects important components of the cells from oxidation. As *L*-cysteine thiolate gives one of its electrons to Cu^{2+} or Fe^{3+} (hemin) and Fe^{2+} , low density lipoproteins (LDL) are protected as the Cu^{2+} or Fe^{2+} concentration are decreased by cysteine (4-6).

Irradiation also results with oxidation of *L*-cysteine to its sulfonic acid form. *L*-Cysteine also reacts with molecular oxygen(O_2) and Hydrogen peroxide(H_2O_2) in order to protect cells from oxidation (80).

2.10. Some Important Cysteine Prodrugs

GSH transmission through blood brain barrier (BBB) is poor due to its hydrophobicity. Reduced/total cysteine concentrations in Table 2 demonstrates that plasma have oxidizing effect on thiols (49). Cystine, oxidized form of cysteine (Table 1), will be reduced to cysteine in less alkaline cytosol medium. Since cystine can pass BBB, it is the cysteine source for the biosynthesis of GSH in neurons. In order to support GSH synthesis cystine is not convenient as a prodrug since it is hydrophobic (7).

2.10.1. N-acetylcylsteine (NAC)

Cysteine is the most reactive thiol comparing to structurally similar low molecular weight thiols. As it is seen in Table 1, the difference between NAC and cysteine is that NAC have an acetyl binded to its amino group. This structural difference leads to a less reactive thiol. This makes NAC a more stable and safe resource of cysteine (83).

When NAC is taken orally, nearly all of it will be transformed subsequently into cysteine and GSH within the first pass effect in kidneys and liver (84, 85). The primary antioxidant effect is increasing GSH levels in order to support metabolism against several diseases such as acetaminophen toxicity, AIDS, cystic fibrosis, chronic obstructive pulmonary disease and diabetes (86-92).

NAC also has the ability to inactivate free radicals directly but with a low reaction rate (93, 94).

2.10.2. Thiazolidine derivatives (TCA)



Thiazolidine-4(R)-carboxylic acid (TCA)

Thiazolidine-4(R)-carboxylic acid (TCA) is a five membered heterocyclic compound which is proved to be hepatoprotective. It supports GSH synthesis in liver by releasing *L*-cysteine. A mitochondrial enzyme, proline oxidase metabolises most of the TCA (8, 95).

It is reported that 2-substituted alkyl dervatives of TCA reveals *L*-cysteine without a need of enzymatic reactions (9-11, 13, 14, 96).

Nagasawa *et al.* synthesized a series of 2-alkyl and aryl substituted TCA molecules (Table 5). Molecules 1b, 1d and 1e protect hepatic cells against acetaminophen better than molecules 1c, 1g, 1f, molecule 2b, *S* conformation of molecule 1b, did not show any protection effect (38).

COMP		
1	2	
<i>R</i> conformation	S conformation	
S-	S ,	R groups
	R ^{MN} N H	
1a		Н
1b	2b	CH ₃
1c		C ₂ H ₅
1d		n-C ₃ H ₇
1e		n-C ₅ H ₁₁
1f		C ₆ H ₅
1g		$4.C_5H_4N$

Table 5. 2-substituted-alkyl and aryl derivatives of TCA as prodrugs of cysteine

Srinivasan *et al.* synthesized and evaluated hepatoprotective actions of 2(*RS*)-n-propylthiazolidine-4*R*-carboxylic acid (PTCA) against analgesic and antipyretic drug N-acetyl-p-aminophenol (APAP). APAP is toxic in high doses.



2(RS)-n-propylthiazolidine-4R-carboxylic acid (PTCA)

It is stated that PTCA exhibits its protection mechanism by revealing *L*-cysteine through solvation which increase GSH synthesis (97, 98). In order to exhibit its activity must be in *L* form (98).

Yan *et al.* obtained the thiazolidine by condensation reaction of *L*-cysteine with glucosamine glucose and galactose sugar molecules (Scheme 13).



Scheme 13. 2-Substituted TCA derivatives with the corresponding sugars.

2-Glucosaminethiazolidine-4(*R*)-carboxylic (GlcNH₂Cys), 2acid galactoseaminethiazolidine-4(R)-carboxylic acid (GalCys) and 2-glucosethiazolidine-4(R)-carboxylic acid are obtained. These TCA molecules which are derivatized with sugar give L-cysteine and the relevant sugar when they are hydrolysed. $GlcNH_2Cys$ GalCys, GluCys and GlcNH₂Cys molecules evaluated in vivo and in vitro. In vitro studies shows that reducing power of GlcNH₂Cys is as strong as ascorbic acid at the same concentration and the reducing ability is directly proportional with the concentration. Strong chelating activity is explained with the glucosamine binding to ferrous. In comparison with mannitol, •OH scavenging activity is found significantly better. GluCys, glucosamine, GlcNH2Cys, and GalCys protected deoxyribose 79%, 35%, 60%, and 74.5% when the molecules are in a concentration of 2 mg/mL. When the TCA molecules and glucosamine are in a concentration 2.8 mg/ mL, glucosamine, GalCys, GluCys, and GlcNH₂Cys show 38%, 60%, 70%, and 80% comparing to control so it is suggested that they might protect cell membrane against oxidative damage. It is also showed that GlcNH₂Cys molecule decreased the oxidative damage of proteins which is caused by •OH %49. In vivo activity of GlcNH₂Cys increased -SH levels of the cells against APAP induced acetaminophen toxicity (99).

Roberts *et al.* obtained 2-(polyhydroxyalkyl)thiazolidine-4(R)-carboxylic acids with naturally occurring aldose monosaccharides containing three, five, and six carbon atoms that are capable of releasing L-cysteine and the sugars by nonenzymatic ring opening and hydrolysis (Scheme 14). By this way toxic effect of the released aldehydes were prevented. When added to rat hepatocyte preparations *in vitro*, these TCAs (1.0 mM) raised cellular glutathione (GSH) levels 1.2-2.1-fold relative to controls. TCA molecules were also tested as protective agents against acetaminophen-induced hepatotoxicity in mouse model. The TCA derived from D-ribose and L-cysteine (RibCys) showed the greatest therapeutic effect of the series (95).



Scheme 14. 2-Substituted TCA derivatives with the corresponding aldose monosaccarides.

2.11. Thiazolidines: structure, synthesis, NMR characterization and biological activity

2.11.1. Structure

Thiazolidine is a heterocycle with a sulfur and a nitrogen at its 1st and 3rd positions. Thiazolidines are known compounds and very useful synthetic intermediates that are widely used.



Thiazolidine ring

2.11.2. Synthesis of Thiazolidine-4-carboxylic acid

It can be synthesized through condensation of an aldehyde or a ketone with cysteine. It is a reversible reaction, both aldehyde or ketone and cysteine can be obtained back. As the condensation reaction is done with optically pure cysteine, the resulting thiazolidine will be a diasteroemeric mixture: using *L*-cysteine gives the 2R, 4R and 2S, 4R molecules however *D*-cysteine leads to the 2R, 4S and 2S, 4S compounds (Figure 10).



Figure 10. 2-Substituted TCA molecule as a diastereomeric mixture.

Thiazolidine ring can occur by two different pathways according to environmental pH (Scheme 15). In the first path; a cationic schiff base forms with an addition-elimination sequence and subsequently thiazolidine cycle occurs. In alkali circumstances first pathway will take place. In the second path sulfonium ion intermediate occurs firstly as the sulfur atom attacks to the carbonyl (100).



Scheme 15. TCA synthesis pathways in acidic (path II) and basic (path I) environment.

In the literature following methods were given for the synthesis of 2-substituted TCAs.

Cysteine	Aldehyde	Base	Solvent	Conditio ns	Yield %	Ref.
<i>L</i> -Cysteine hydrochloride monohydrate	Benzaldehyde <i>o</i> -Hydroxy, <i>o</i> -nitro, <i>p</i> -Cyano, 2-Hydroxy-4- methoxy,	NaHCO ₃	EtOH:H2O 50:50	RT	80-95	(21)
	2-pyridine					
<i>L</i> -Cysteine	carboxaldehyde, 3-pyridine carboxaldehyde, 4-pyridine carboxaldehyde, Benzaldehyde, <i>p</i> -nitro, <i>p</i> -chloro, <i>p</i> -methyl, 4- (dimethylamino), benzaldehydes	NaHCO ₃	EtOH:H2O 50:50	RT	80-90	(39)

 Table 6. Synthethic pathways for the synthesis of 2-substituted TCA derivatives.

Table 7. Synthethic pathways for the synthesis of 2-substituted TCA derivatives

Cysteine	Aldehyde	Base	Solvent	Conditions	Yield %	Ref.
<i>L</i> -Cysteine hydrochloride monohydrate	<i>p</i> -methyl benzaldehyde	KOAc	EtOH:H ₂ O 60:40	RT	89	(37)
<i>L</i> -Cysteine	<i>p</i> -Hydroxy <i>p</i> -methoxy, <i>o</i> -Hydroxy, 3-Hydroxy-4- methoxy, 3-methoxy-4- Hydroxy, 3-ethoxy-4- Hydroxy, 3,4,5-trimethoxy, 3,4-dimethoxy, 3,5-dimethoxy-4- hydroxy, benzaldehydes.	-	EtOH	Under reflux condenser	40-77	(36)

Cysteine	Aldehyde	Base	Solvent	Conditi- ons	Yield %	Ref
L-Cysteine hydrochloride	Benzaldehyde <i>m</i> -chloro, <i>m</i> -Hydroxy, <i>p</i> -Hydroxy <i>p</i> -Cyano, <i>p</i> -methoxy, <i>p</i> -nitro, 3-methoxy-4- Hydroxy, 3,4,5-trimehoxy,	NaOAc	EtOH:H2O 60:40	RT, In ice water	62-98	(35)
<i>L</i> -Cysteine	Benzaldehyde <i>p</i> -chloro, <i>p</i> -floro, <i>p</i> -hydroxy, <i>p</i> -metoxy, 2,5-dimethoxy, 2,4,5-trimethoxy, benzaldehydes.		EtOH	RT	85-94	(33)
L-Cysteine hydrochloride monohydrate	Benzaldehyde	NaOH	EtOH:H ₂ O 50 : 50	RT	98	(19)

 Table 8. Synthethic pathways for the synthesis of 2-substituted TCA derivatives.

2.11.3. ¹H NMR Characterization

For the identification of 2-substituted TCA ring C2-H, C4-H and C5-H peaks must be examined. It is important to consider that the two hydrogens of the 5th carbon are not equivalent.



2-Substituted TCA ring in 2R, 4R and 2S, 4R configurations

The signals of both diastereomers (2S, 4R and 2R, 4R) can be clearly observed with the ratio of occurance. C2-H signals are observed as two separate singlets at around 5.58 and 5.32 ppm. The C4 protons are observed as doublet of doublets around 4.33 and 3.90 ppm which couple with both of the unequivalent C5. Four groups of doublet of doublets represent C5 protons. Peaks for the major isomer are located around 3.41 whereas peak at 3.90 ppm indicated for the minor isomer, C5-H dd signals are located around 3.30 and 3.12 ppm.

The 2S, 4R diastereomer is expected to be the major one since in this configuration the two massive groups, R group and the carboxylic acid function, locates in the opposite sides of the thiazolidine ring. Yu *et al.* proved this distribution by 1D nuclear Overhauser effect (NOE) experiments as illustrated in Figure 11; while the irradiation of the signal of the C4-H of the major isomer (peak at around 4.33 ppm) did not generated any NOE signal with the corresponding C2-H peak (around 5.32 ppm), the C2-H (around 5.58 ppm) of the minor isomer gave a strong NOE signal when the corresponding C4-H (around 3.90 ppm) was irradiated (24).



Figure 11. A. ¹H NMR of 2-Aromatic thiazolidine-4-carboxyamide ring B. and C. NOE between C4-H and C2-H major and minor peaks

2.11.4. Biological activities of 2-phenyl thiazolidine carboxylic acid derivatives

Some of the compounds (1, 4, 5, 6, 7, 8 and 9) were previously evaluated for several biologic activities including antivirutic, antifungal, antibacterial, antioxidant, urease inhibition, tyrosinase inhibition, anticancer and prevention of the β -amyloid peptide aggregation activities, the results are shown in Tables 9 and 10.

Compound	Activity	Potency				Refence
	Antivirutic activity	$IC_{50} = 2$	21,31 μM			(21)
	Prevention of the β-amyloid peptide aggregation				(39)	
	Urease inhibition	$IC_{50} = 5$	8,32 μM			(35)
1	Antifungal	CA	CN	ТМ	AF	(33)
	activity	I	0,62 μΜ	0,62 μM	I	(33)
	Antibacterial	BS	SA	PA	EC	(34)
	activity	3,125 µM	12,5 μΜ	>50 µM	25 μΜ	(34)
	Antioxidant activity (in vivo)	Active				(38)
4	Urease inhibition	$IC_{50} = 48,91 \ \mu M$			(35)	
5	Urease inhibition	$IC_{50} = 10,62 \ \mu M$			(35)	
6	Prevention of the β-amyloid peptide aggregation	Signicif	ïcant acti	ivity		(39)

Table 9. Biological activities of the compounds 1, 4, 5 and 6 reported in the literature.

Compound	Activity	Potency				Ref.
	Tyrosinase inhibition	%21 inh	%21 inhibition			
	Urease inhibition	$IC_{50} = 1$	$IC_{50} = 12,08 \ \mu M$			
	Antifungal	CA	CN	ТМ	AF	(33)
7	activity	Ι	0,62 μΜ	0,62 µM	I	(33)
_	Antibacterial	BS	SA	PA	EC	(34)
	activity	12,5 μM	25 μΜ	>50 µM	>50 µM	(34)
8	Prevention of the β -amyloid peptide aggregation	Signicif	(39)			
	Antitumor activity	Inactive	Inactive			(37)
9	Prevention of the β-amyloid peptide aggregation	Signicif	icant acti	ivity		(39)
	Urease inhibition	$IC_{50} = 3$	$IC_{50} = 39,28 \ \mu M$			(35)

 Table 10. Biological activities of the compounds 7, 8 and 9 reported in the literature.

AF : Aspergillus fumigatus, *BS* : Bacillus subtilis, *CA* : Candida albicans, *CN* : Cryptococcus neoformans, *EC* : Escherichia coli, *PA* : Pseudomonas aeruginosa, *SA* : Pseudomonas aeruginosa, *TM* : Tricophyton mentagrophytes.

3. MATERIALS AND METHODS

3.1. Chemicals

All starting materials were commercially available used without further purification. L-cysteine hydrochloride monohydrate is purchased from Merck KGaA the aldehydes; 4-chlorobenzaldehyde, 2,3-dichlorobenzaldehyde, 2.3and difluorobenzaldehyde, 3-chlorobenzaldeyde, 2,6-difluorobenzaldehyde, 4methoxybenzaldehyde, 2-bromobenzaldehyde, 4-methylbenzaldehyde, 4nitrobenzaldehyde, 2-methylbenzaldehyde, 2-meyhoxybenzaldehyd were purchased from Sigma-Aldrich.

3.2. Analytical Methods

3.2.1. General Procedure : Preparation of 2(*RS*)-(phenyl) thiazolidine-4(*R*)-

carboxylic acid derivatives (1-12)

L-cysteine hydrochloride monohydrate (1.0 eq) and sodium hydroxide (1.0 eq) were dissolved in water. Then aldehyde (1.0 eq) in ethanol was added and the mixture was stirred at room temparature (RT) for three hours. EtOH : H_2O ratio is arranged as 1:1. Solid cyristals of the expected compounds were filtered and washed with water. The crystals were dried under *vacuo* (19).

3.2.2. Melting point determination

Melting points of the compounds were determined by an electrothermal melting point apparatus (Mettler Toledo FP62) in open capillary tubes.

3.2.3. Controls with thin layer chromatography (TLC) system

Plates: During this work, kieselgel 60 F_{254} (Merck) silica gel plaques were used for thin layer chromatography. Completion of the reactions were observed by the chromatographic monitoring of aldehydes.

Solvent systems: Ethyl acetate: *n*-hexane (30 : 70) solvent system was used for chromatographic controls in this work.

Elution conditions: Solvent system was poured to chambers ans waited for saturation. Synthesized compounds and their starting materials were dissolved in appropriate solvents, applications were made on thin layer chromatography (TLC) plaques and dragged along at room temparature.

Identification of TLC spots: UV light (254 nm) was used for the detection of the spots

3.2.4. Spectrometric analysis

3.2.4.1. Infrared (IR) spectra

Infrared (IR) spectra (10T/cm³ pressure applied potassium bromide discs) were recorded on a Perkin Elmer FT-IR 1720X spectrometer and the frequencies were expressed in cm⁻¹.

3.2.4.2. HPLC Spectra

Agilent 1260 series HPLC with diode array dedector was used to record spectras. The chromatography column used was 5 μ m Zorbax Extend RP-18 column (4.6 mm × 250 mm), as the mobile phase; water : acetonitrile (50 : 50) solvent system was used with the flow rate of 0.5 ml/min.

3.2.4.3. UV spectrophotometric determination

The UV spectrophotometric determinations were done with a Bandelin Sonorex Microplate Photometer during the CUPRAC assay and a Synergy Htx Multiplate Reader during DPPH assay.

3.2.4.4. ¹H-NMR Spectra

The NMR spectra were recorded with a Bruker AC 400 Hz spectrometer using tetramethylsilane as the internal reference, dimethylsulfoxide- d_6 (DMSO) as solvent and chemical shifts were reported in parts per million (ppm).

3.2.4.5. ¹³C-NMR Spectra

¹³C-NMR Spectra of some compounds were recorded with a Bruker AC 400 Hz spectrometer.

3.2.4.6. LC-MS spectra

Spectra were recorded with a Waters 2695 Alliance Micromass ZQ LC-MS.

3.3. In vitro Activity Test Procedures

3.3.1. The 1,1-diphenyl-2-picrylhydrazyl (DPPH) radical scavenging assay

The DPPH radical scavenging abilities of the compounds **1-12** were evaluated with respect to the method of Akter *et al.* (100) with few alterations (101). The DPPH assay is a very commonly used methodology for analyzing the antioxidant activity of molecules, it consists of the determination of the compound concentration that is capable of scavenging 50% of the DPPH radicals in solution by monitoring the decrease of absorbance at 520 nm that belongs to the stable free radicals.

The assay was performed in 96-well plates. The DPPH solution was prepared (0.1mM or 0.004 g / 0.1L) and sample solutions were prepared by appropiate serial dilution within a range from 1000 μ M to 6.75 μ M. As a reference solution, butyl hydroxytoluene (BHT) was prepared and used at a concentration range varying between 2000 and 125 μ M. In each well 250 μ L of DPPH solution and 50 μ L of sample or reference solutions were added and incubated in dark at RT for 50 minutes. Each sample was evaluated in triplicate.

Absorbance was measured at 517 nm and radical scavenging ability of the molecules were calculated as follows;

DPPH radical - scavenging activity $\% = [1 - (A_{sample} - A_{blank}) / (A_{control} - A_{blank})] \times 100$

 $A_{control}$ is the absorbance value of the BHT reference solutions and A_{sample} is the absorbance of the samples.

3.3.2. Cupric reducing antioxidant capacity (CUPRAC)

The cupric ion reducing abilities of the compounds **1-12** were evaluated with respect to the method of Apak *et al.* (103) with few alterations (102). Reacting with trace metals and protecting lipids and some parts of the cells from oxidative damage is known as an antioxidant mechanism. As the antioxidant molecule reacts with Cu(II)-neocuproine complex, the complex will be transformed into Cu(I)-neocuproine.

This method is based on the spectrophotometric determination of the yellow Cu(I)-neocuproine complex at 450 nm.

The assay was performed in 96-well plates. Reagent solutions were prepared separately as 10mM CuSO₄, 7.5mM neocuproine and 1M ammonium acetate buffer (pH 7.0). Sample solutions were prepared by appropriate serial dilution within a range from 1000 μ M to 6.75 μ M. Trolox, a water soluble analogue of vitamin E, was used as reference in the concentration range of 10 μ M-70 μ M.

Into each well, equal volumes of each reagent solution 85μ L, 51μ L of H₂O and 43μ L of sample solution were added. Each sample concentration was evaluated triplicate. The plate was incubated in 50°C for 20 minutes and absorbance values were measured at 450 nm.

Trolox coefficient values (TEAC) were calculated for each sample as follows;

 $TEAC = \epsilon_{sample} / \epsilon_{trolox}$

4. EXPERIMENTAL

Spectral data is given for the molecules 1-12.

4.1. (2*RS*-4*R*)-2-phenyl-1,3-thiazolidine-4-carboxylic acid (Compound 1) (21, 33-35, 38, 39)



0.028 mol *L*-Cysteine hydrochloride monohydrate and 0. 028 mol benzaldehyde were reacted as described in the general procedure and precipitates were washed with water and dried under *vacuo* to yield 89%. The compound is in white solid form and soluble in pure DMSO.

m.p.: 163°C, m.p. literature (21): 159°C

FT-IR (KBr), cm⁻¹: 3200-3450 (O-H carboxylic acid), 1575 (C=O), 1435 (C=C, aromatic)

¹H-NMR (DMSO-d₆) δ : 3.08 (t, *J*=19.2 Hz, 0.3H, H_c); 3.14 (dd, *J*₁=4.8 Hz, *J*₂=10.4 Hz, 0.7H, H_c); 3.30 (dd, *J*₁=7.6 Hz, *J*₂=10.8 Hz, 0.7H, H_c); 3.38 (dd, *J*₁=7.6 Hz, *J*₂=10.4 Hz, 0.3H, H_c); 3.90 (dd, *J*₁=7.6 Hz, *J*₂=8.8 Hz, 0.3H, H_b), 4.23 (dd, *J*₁=4.8 Hz, *J*₂=7.2 Hz, 0.7H, H_b); 5.50 (s, 0.3H, H_d); 5.67 (s, 0.7H, H_d); 7.24 – 7.54 (m, 5H, C_{arm})

¹³C NMR (DMSO-d₆) δ: 37.9, 38.3 (C_c); 64.8, 65.3 (C_b); 71.0, 71.7 (C_d); 126.8, 127.2 (C_h); 127.5, 128.1 (C_g); 128.2, 128.4 (C_f); 115.5, 155.7 (C_f); 172.1, 172.9 (C_a).

Elemental analysis for $C_{10}H_{11}NO_2S$ (M_W = 209.26 g.mol⁻¹)

	C %	Н %	N %	S %
Calculated	57.39	6.30	6.69	15.32
Found	57.01	5.16	6.78	14.89

4.2. (2*RS*-4*R*)-2-(2-methoxyphenyl)-1,3-thiazolidine-4-carboxylic acid (Compound 2) Cas no : 1029800-35-8



0.028 mol *L*-Cysteine hydrochloride monohydrate and 0.028 mol *o*-methoxy benzaldehyde were reacted as described in the general procedure and precipitates were washed with water and dried under *vacuo* to yield 65%. The compound is in white solid form and soluble in pure DMSO.

m.p. : 144.1°C

FT-IR (KBr), cm⁻¹: 3100-3300 (O-H carboxylic acid), 3021 (C-H sp²), 1639 (C=O), 1490 (C=C, aromatic)

¹H-NMR (DMSO-d₆) δ : 2.94 - 3 (m, 1H, H_c); 3.18 (dd, J_1 =6.8 Hz, J_2 =10.4 Hz, 0.4H, H_c); 3.34 (dd, J_1 =6.8 Hz, J_2 =10 Hz, 0.6H, H_c); 3.80 (s, 1,2H H_k); 3.81 (s, 1.8H, H_k); 3.85 (dd, J=7.2 Hz, 9.2 Hz, 0.4H, H_b); 4.17 (t, J=12.4 Hz 0.6H, H_b); 5.69 (s, 0.6H, H_d); 5.86 (s, 0.4H, H_d); 6.88 - 7.06 (m, 2H, H_{arm}); 7.2 - 7.34 (m, 1H, H_{arm}); 7.39 (dd, J_1 =1.2 Hz, J_2 =7.6 Hz, 0.4H, H_g); 7.51 (dd, J_1 =1.6 Hz, J_2 =8 Hz, 0.6H, H_g)

Elemental analysis for $C_{11}H_{13}NO_3S$ (M_W = 239.29 g.mol⁻¹)

	C %	Н %	N %	S %
Calculated	55.21	5.48	5.85	13.40
Found	54.93	5.43	5.94	13.06

4.3. (2*RS*-4*R*)-2-(2-methylphenyl)-1,3-thiazolidine-4-carboxylic acid (Compound 3) Cas no: 1290211-93-6

 $C_{11}H_{13}NO_2S$

 $M_W = 223.29 \text{ g.mol}^{-1}$



0.028 mol *L*-Cysteine hydrochloride monohydrate and 0.028 mol *o*-tolyl benzaldehyde were reacted as described in the general procedure and precipitates were washed with water and dried under *vacuo* to yield 75%. The compound is in white solid form and soluble in pure DMSO.

m.p. : 154.6°C

FT-IR (KBr), cm⁻¹: 3210-3430 (O-H carboxylic acid), 3021 (C-H sp²), 1666 (C=O), 1590 (C=C, aromatic)

¹H-NMR (DMSO-d₆) δ : 3.05 (dd, J_1 =9.2 Hz, J_2 =10.2 Hz, 0.4H, H_c); 3.09 (dd, J_1 =5.2 Hz, J_2 =10.4 Hz, 0.6H, H_c); 3.29 (dd, J_1 =6.8 Hz, J_2 =10 Hz, 0.4H, H_c); 3.38 (dd, J_1 =7.6 Hz, J_2 =10.4 Hz, 0.6H, H_c); 3.90 (dd, J_1 =7.6 Hz, J_2 =8.8 Hz, 0.4H, H_b); 4.23 (dd, J_1 =5.6 Hz, J_2 =7.2 Hz, 0.6H, H_b); 5.67 (s, 0.4H, H_d); 5.85 (s, 0.6H, H_d); 7.12 – 7.84 (m, 4H, H_{arm})

43

4.4. (2*RS*-4*R*)-2-(2-bromophenyl)-1,3-thiazolidine-4-carboxylic acid (Compound 4) (35)



0.028 mol *L*-Cysteine hydrochloride monohydrate and 0.028 mol *o*-bromo benzaldehyde were reacted as described in the general procedure and precipitates were washed with water and dried under *vacuo* to yield %86. The compound is in white solid form and soluble in pure DMSO.

m.p. : 182.2°C

FT-IR (KBr), cm⁻¹: 3260-3450 (O-H carboxylic acid), 3060 (C-H sp²), 1664 (C=O), 1515 (C=C, aromatic)

¹H-NMR (DMSO-d₆) δ : 2.97 (dd, J_1 =6.4 Hz, J_2 =10 Hz, 0.7H, H_c); 3.06 (t, J=19.2 Hz, 0.3H, H_c); 3.25 (dd, J_1 =6.4 Hz, J_2 =10 Hz, 0.7H, H_c); 3.35 (dd, J_1 =6.4 Hz, J_2 =9.6 Hz, 0.3H, H_c); 3.97 (dd, J_1 =6.8 Hz, J_2 =9.2 Hz, 0.4H, H_b); 4.19 (t, J=13.2 Hz 0.3H, H_b); 5.73 (s, 0.3H, H_d); 5.91 (s, 0.7H, H_d); 7.24-7.86 (m, 4H, H_{arm})

¹³C NMR (DMSO-d₆) δ: 37.4, 37.5 (C_c); 65.3, 65.5 (C_b); 69.6, 69.8 (C_d); 122.3, 122.5 (C_h); 122.3, 127.7, 129.8, 132.4, 138,7, 141.8 (C_{arom}); 172.1, 172.5 (C_a).

Elemental analysis for $C_{10}H_{10}BrNO_2S$ (M_W = 288.16 g.mol⁻¹)

	C %	Н %	N %	S %
Calculated	41.68	3.50	4.86	11.10
Found	36.38	4.20	4.94	10.83

4.5. (2*RS*-4*R*)- 2-(3-chlorophenyl)-1,3-thiazolidine-4-carboxylic acid (Compound 5) (35)



0.028 mol *L*-Cysteine hydrochloride monohydrate and 0.028 mol *m*-chloro benzaldehyde were reacted as described in the general procedure and precipitates were washed with water and dried under *vacuo* to yield 74%. The compound is in white solid form and soluble in pure DMSO.

m.p. : 160.4°C

FT-IR (KBr), cm⁻¹: 3220-3450 (O-H carboxylic acid), 3044 (C-H sp²), 1574 (C=O), 1477 (C=C, aromatic)

¹H-NMR (DMSO-d₆) δ : 3.09 (dd, J_1 =5.2 Hz, J_2 =10.8 Hz, 0.9H, H_c); 3.28 (dd, J_1 =6.8 Hz, J_2 =10.4 Hz, 0.9H, H_c); 4.15 (dd, J_1 =4.8 Hz, J_2 =6.4 Hz, 0.9H H_b,); 5.67 (s, 0.9H, H_d); 7.28-7.51 (m, 4H, H_{arm})

Elemental analysis for $C_{10}H_{10}CINO_2S$ (M_W = 243.71 g.mol⁻¹)

	C %	Н%	N %	S %
Calculated	49.28	4.14	5.75	13.01
Found	48.98	4.00	5.85	12.90

4.6. (2*RS*-4*R*)-2-(4-chlorophenyl)-1,3-thiazolidine-4-carboxylic acid (Compound 6) (39)



0.028 mol *L*-Cysteine hydrochloride monohydrate and 0.028 mol *p*-chloro benzaldehyde were reacted as described in the general procedure and precipitates were washed with water and dried under *vacuo* to yield 75%. The compound is in white solid form and soluble in pure DMSO.

m.p. : 158.8 °C

FT-IR (KBr), cm⁻¹: 3280-3450 (O-H carboxylic acid), 1579 (C=O), 1491 (C=C, aromatic)

¹H-NMR (DMSO-d₆) δ : 3.09 (dd, *J*=5.2 Hz, *J*₂=10.8 Hz 0.95H, H_c); 3.27 (dd, *J*₁=6.8 Hz, *J*₂=10 Hz, 0.95H, H_c); 4.16 (dd, *J*₁=4.8 Hz, *J*₂=6.4 Hz, 0.95H, H_b); 5.66 (s, 0.95H, H_d); 7.37 (d, *J*=8.8 Hz, 1.9H, H_g); 7.44 (d, *J*=8.4 Hz, 1.9H, H_f).

LC-MS: ELS, rt = 3.80 min., *m*/*z* 244 [M + H]⁺, 285 [M + CH₃CN]⁺.

Elemental analysis for $C_{10}H_{10}CINO_2S$ (M_W = 243.71 g.mol⁻¹)

	C %	Н %	N %	S %
Calculated	49.28	4.14	5.75	13.10
Found	49.20	4.05	5.95	12.91

4.7. (2RS-4R)- 2-(4-methoxyphenyl)-1,3-thiazolidine-4-carboxylic acid (Compound 7) (33-36)



0.028 mol *L*-Cysteine hydrochloride monohydrate and 0.028 mol *p*-methoxy benzaldehyde were reacted as described in the general procedure and precipitates were washed with water and dried under *vacuo* to yield 72%. The compound is in white solid form and soluble in pure DMSO.

m.p. : 159°C, m.p. literature (36) : 157.6 - 158.2 °C

FT-IR (KBr), cm⁻¹: 3270-3450 (O-H carboxylic acid), 3061 (C-H sp²), 1586 (C=O), 1463 (C=C, aromatic)

¹H-NMR (DMSO-d₆) δ : 3.07 (6t, *J*=9.6 Hz, 0.5H, H_c); 3.15 (dd, *J*₁=4.0 Hz, *J*₂=10.0 Hz, 0.5H, H_c); 3.29 (dd, *J*₁=7.2 Hz, *J*₂=10.4 Hz, 0.5H, H_c); 3.36 (dd, *J*₁=7.2 Hz, *J*₂=10.0 Hz, 0.5H, H_c); 3,74 (s, 1.5H, H_i); 3.76 (s, 1.5H, H_i); 3.87 (dd, *J*₁=7.6 Hz, *J*₂=9.2 Hz, 0.5H, H_b), 4.25 (dd, *J*₁=4.0 Hz, *J*₂=6.8 Hz, 0.5H, H_b); 5.46 (s, 0.5H, H_d); 5.60 (s, 0.5H, H_d); 6.89 (d, *J*=8.4 Hz, 1H, H_g); 6.93 (d, *J*=8.8 Hz, 1H, H_g); 7.37 (d, *J*=8.4 Hz, 1H, H_f); 7.44 (d, *J*=8.4 Hz, 1H, H_f).

LC-MS: ELSD, rt = 3.47 min., *m*/*z* 240 [M + H]⁺, 281 [M + CH₃CN]⁺.

Elemental analysis for $(C_{11}H_{13}NO_3S M_W = 239.29 \text{ g.mol}^{-1})$

	C %	Н %	N %	S %
Calculated	55.21	5.48	5.85	13.40
Found	55.08	5.21	6.01	13.20

4.8. (2*RS*-4*R*)- 2-(4-methylphenyl)-1,3-thiazolidine-4-carboxylic acid (Compound 8) (37, 38)



0.028 mol *L*-Cysteine hydrochloride monohydrate and 0.028 mol *p*-tolyl benzaldehyde were reacted as described in the general procedure and precipitates were washed with water and dried under *vacuo* to yield 85%. The compound is in white solid form and soluble in pure DMSO.

m.p. : 161.8°C

FT-IR (KBr), cm⁻¹: 3250-3470 (O-H carboxylic acid), 1578 (C=O), 1473 (C=C, aromatic)

¹H-NMR (DMSO-d₆) δ : 2.28 (s, 1.8H, H_i); : 2.50 (s, 1.2H, H_i); 3.07 (t, *J*=18.4 Hz, 0.4H, H_c); 3.14 (dd, *J*₁=4.4 Hz, *J*₂=10.4 Hz, 0.6H, H_c); 3.28 (dd, *J*₁=6.8 Hz, *J*₂=10 Hz, 0.6H, H_c); 3.36 (dd, *J*₁=6.8 Hz, *J*₂=9.6 Hz, 0.4H, H_c); 3.88 (t, *J*=16 Hz, 0.4H, H_b); 4.24 (dd, *J*₁=4.4 Hz, *J*₂=6.8 Hz, 0.6H, H_b); 5.46 (s, 0.4H, H_d); 5.62 (s, 0.6H, H_d); 7.14 (d, *J*=8.4 Hz, 0.4H, H_g); 7.18 (d, *J*=8 Hz, 0.4H, H_i); 7.32 (d, *J*=8.4 Hz, 0.6H, H_g); 7.39 (d, *J*=8 Hz, 0.6H, H_i).

¹³C NMR (DMSO-d₆) δ: 20.5, 20.6 (Ci); 37.8, 38.6 (C_c); 64.7, 65.3 (C_b); 70.9, 71.6 (C_d); 126.8, 127.1 (C_f); 124.8, 128.7, 128.9 (C_g); 135.8, 136.8 (Ch); 137.5, 137.9 (Ce) 172.1, 172.9 (C_a).

Elemental analysis for $C_{11}H_{13}NO_2S$ (M_W = 223.29 g.mol⁻¹)

	C %	Н %	N %	S %
Calculated	59.17	5.87	6.27	14.36
Found	59.40	5.89	6.41	14.06

4.9. (2*RS*-4*R*)-2-(4-nitrophenyl)-1,3-thiazolidine-4-carboxylic (Compound 9) (35, 39)



0.028 mol *L*-Cysteine hydrochloride monohydrate and 0.028 mol *p*-nitro benzaldehyde were reacted as described in the general procedure and precipitates were washed with water and dried under *vacuo* to yield 80%. The compound is in white solid form and soluble in pure DMSO.

m.p. : 110°C

FT-IR (KBr), cm⁻¹: 3200-3400 (O-H carboxylic acid), 3017 (C-H sp²), 1629 (C=O), 1526 (NO₂), 1438 (C=C, aromatic)

¹H-NMR (DMSO-d₆) δ : 3.12 (dd, J_1 =8.8 Hz, J_2 =9.6 Hz, 0.95H, H_c); 3.76 (dd, J_1 =6.8 Hz, J_2 =10 Hz, 0.95H, H_c); 3.98 (dd, J_1 =8.8 Hz, J_2 =9.6 Hz, 0.95H H_b,); 5.67 (s, 0.95H, H_d); 7.8 (d, J=8.4 Hz, 1.9H, H_g); 8.2 (d, J=8.4 Hz, 1.9H, H_f).

LC-MS: ELSD, rt = 3.59 min., *m*/*z* 255 [M + H]⁺, 296 [M + CH₃CN]⁺.

Elemental analysis for $C_{10}H_{10}N_2O_4S.H_2O$ (M_W = 254.26 g.mol⁻¹)

	C %	Н %	N %	S %
Calculated	44.28	4.09	10.33	11.80
Found	43.98	4.32	10.33	11.26

acid

4.10. (2RS-4R)-2-(2,6-difluorophenyl)-1,3-thiazolidine-4-carboxylic acid (Compound 10) Cas no : 1290229-85-4

 $C_{10}H_9F_2NO_2S$

 $M_W = 245.25 \text{ g.mol}^{-1}$



0.028 mol *L*-Cysteine hydrochloride monohydrate and 0.028 mol 2,6-difloro benzaldehyde were reacted as described in the general procedure and precipitates were washed with water and dried under *vacuo* to yield 75%. The compound is in white solid form and soluble in pure DMSO.

m.p.: 140.6°C

FT-IR (KBr), cm⁻¹: 3200-3460 (O-H carboxylic acid), 1656 (C=O), 3081 (C-H sp²) 1469 (C=C, aromatic)

¹H-NMR (DMSO-d₆) δ : 3.01 (t, *J*=18.8 Hz, 0.6H, H_c); 3.19 (dd, *J*₁=3.6 Hz, *J*₂=10.0 Hz, 0.4H, H_c); 3.33 (dd, *J*₁=6.8 Hz, *J*₂=10.4 Hz, 0.4H, H_c); 3.46 (dd, *J*₁=7.2 Hz, *J*₂=10.4 Hz, 0.6H, H_c); 3,89 (t, *J*=16.4 0.6H, H_b); 4.45 (dd, *J*₁=3.6 Hz, *J*₂=6.4 Hz, 0.4H, H_b), 5.78 (s, 0.6H, H_d); 5.98 (s, 0.4H, H_d); 7.11 (t, *J*=17.2, 0.4H, H_b); 7.18 (t, *J*=18, 0.6H, H_b); 7.36-7.56 (m, 2H, H_g).

4.11. (2RS-4R)-2-(2,3-difluorophenyl)-1,3-thiazolidine-4-carboxylic acid (Compound 11) Cas no : 1344968-75-7



0.028 mol *L*-Cysteine hydrochloride monohydrate and 0.028 mol 2,3-difloro benzaldehyde were reacted as described in the general procedure and precipitates were obtained as washed with water and dried under *vacuo* to yield 80%. The compound is in white solid form and soluble in pure DMSO.

m.p. : 133.5°C

FT-IR (KBr), cm⁻¹: 3200-3450 (O-H carboxylic acid), 1610 (C=O), 1426 (C=C, aromatic)

¹H-NMR (DMSO-d₆) δ : 3.00 (t, *J*=10 Hz, 0.4H, H_c); 3.05 (t, *J*=18.8 Hz, 0.6H, H_c); 3.29 (dd, *J*₁=3.6 Hz, *J*₂=10 Hz, 0.6H, H_c); 3.35 (dd, *J*₁=3.2 Hz, *J*₂=9.6 Hz, 0.4H, H_c); 3.94 (dd, *J*₁=6.8 Hz, *J*₂=8.8 Hz, 0.4H, H_b); 4.11 (t, *J*=12.8 Hz, 0.6H, H_b); 5.70 (s, 0.6H, H_d); 5.93 (s, 0.4H, H_d); 7.12-7.58 (m, 3H, H_{arm}).

LC-MS: ELSD, rt = 3.60 min., *m*/*z* 246 [M + H]⁺, 287 [M + CH₃CN]⁺.

Elemental analysis for $C_{10}H_9F_2NO_2S$ (M_W = 245.25 g.mol⁻¹)

	C %	Н %	N %	S %
Calculated	48.89	3.70	5.71	13.01
Found	48.77	3.69	5.82	12.74

4.12. (2RS-4R)- 2-(2,3-dichlorophenyl)-1,3-thiazolidine-4-carboxylic acid (Compound 12) Cas no : 1212481-14-5



0.0028 mol *L*-Cysteine hydrochloride monohydrate and 0.028 mol 2,3diclorobenzaldehyde were reacted as described in the general procedure and precipitates were washed with water and dried under *vacuo* to yield 80%. The compound is in white solid form and soluble in pure DMSO.

m.p.: 129.7°C

FT-IR (KBr), cm⁻¹ 3200-3450 (O-H carboxylic acid), 3163 (C-H sp²), 1666 (C=O), 1418 (C=C, aromatic)

¹H-NMR (DMSO-d₆) δ : 2.94 (dd, J_1 =7.6 Hz, J_2 =10.8 Hz, 0.6H, H_c); 3.05 (t, J=19.2 Hz, 0.4H, H_c); 3.25 (dd, J_1 =6.4 Hz, J_2 =10 Hz, 0.4H, H_c); 3.34 (dd, J_1 =6.8 Hz, J_2 =10.4 Hz, 0.6H, H_c); 4.02 (dd, J_1 =7.2 Hz, J_2 =9.2 Hz, 0.4H, H_b), 4.13 (t, J=13.2 Hz, 0.6H H_b); 5.80 (s, 0.4H, H_d); 5.99 (s, 0.6H, H_d); 7.36 (t, J=16 Hz, 0.6H, H_i); 7.41 (t, J=15.6 Hz, 0.4H, H_i); 7.53 (d, J=2.8 Hz, 0.6H H_b); 7.55 (d, J=2.4 Hz, 04H, H_b); 7.61 (dd, J_1 =1.2 Hz, J_2 =7.6 Hz, 0.6H, H_i); 7.84 (t, J=7.6 Hz, 0.4H, H_i).

Elemental analysis for $C_{10}H_9Cl_2NO_2S.2H_20$ (M_W = 278.16 g.mol⁻¹

	C %	Н %	N %	S %
Calculated	38.47	3.550	4.490	10.200
Found	38.04	3.559	4.770	10.350

5. DISCUSSION AND CONCLUSION

5.1. Chemistry

In this study; 2-substituted TCA derivatives (1-12) were synthesized as shown in Scheme 16 in order to evaluate their *in vitro* antioxidant capacities which rises from their spontaneous *L*-cysteine release or thiazolidine ring. The final products present two main parts: thiazolidine ring, and mono or di substituted phenyl group at the second position of the thiazolidine ring.



Scheme 16. Synthesis of substituted 2-phenyl-4-carboxylic acid thiazolidine derivatives 1-12.

TCA derivatives were synthesized with good to excellent yields by condensing L-cysteine with a series of substituted benzaldehyde derivatives as shown in Scheme 16. The typical cyclization reaction was carried out in basic conditions in a water/ethanol mixture (50:50, v:v) as shown in Scheme 17 (100).



Scheme 17. Reaction mechanism of the compounds 1-12 as diastereomeric mixture.

The synthesis of thiazolidine carboxylic acids were achieved using conditions optimized by Onen Bayram et al. (19). Indeed, syntheses carried out with cysteine hydrichlorate salt require the use of a base fot the neutralization of the thiol compound before its cyclization and the hydroxide ion was found to be suitable for such a purpose. Also, the reaction solvent was chosen to be a mixture of ethanol and water to ensure the proper soubilization of both cysteine hydrochlorate (water soluble) and the benzaldehyde derivatives (soluble in polar protic solvents). Finally temperature was maintained around 20°C since room temperature was found to be enough for obtaining thiazolidine compounds with satisfactory yields.

The structures of the synthesized compounds were elucidated by FT-IR, ¹H NMR, ¹³C NMR and elemental analysis. The formation of the thiazolidine ring was confirmed through the typical signals corresponding to the second position of the cycle. As it is illustrated in Figure 13 the hydrogen on C-2 gave a typical singlet around 5.5 ppm, and according to Figure 14 the signal of the C- 2 carbon atom appeared as a peak at around 71 ppm.

The ring closure reaction results from two successive nucleophilic attacks to the aldehyde and leads to the generation of a new chiral center in an uncontrolled manner. Thus, thiazolidine derivatives are obtained as diastereomeric structures (Scheme 17). Although clearly distinguishable on ¹H NMR *via* the proton on the C-2 carbon of the heterocycle [24], the isolation of the 2R, 4R and 2S, 4R isomers were not achieved since in fact, there is a rapid interconversion of one diastereomer into the other through the corresponding Schiff base in physiological or basic pH values (100).

The *RS/RR* ratios were determined by integrating the C-2 protons of the each diastereomer. According to Figure 13, the peak at 5.6 ppm belongs to *RR* diastereomer and the peak at 5.4 ppm belongs to *RS* diastereomer.

Interestingly, nevertheless, the diastereomeric mixture ratios varied according to the substituents of the aromatic cycle (Table 11), the equilibrium being clearly in favor of one of the isomers in the compounds **5**, **6** and **9**. While the *ortho*-cyano, *meta*- and *para*-chloro benzaldehydes definitely orient the reaction to the formation of the 2S, 4R isomer (distinction made through NOE data given in the literature) (24), the *p*-nitrobenzaldehyde led preferably to the 2R, 4R thiazolidine derivative (**6**). The exact reason for such displacement of the equilibrium remains unknown since we could not precisely correlate the diastereomeric mixture ratios neither with the electron-attracting or withdrawing properties of the substituent nor with its size or position.


Figure 12. 2S,4R (major) and 2R,4R (minor) diastereoisomers of compound 8.



Figure 13. NMR spectrum of the compound 8.



Figure 14. ¹³C spectrum of compound 8.

Compound	2S,4R / 2R,4R		
1	70:30		
2	40:60		
3	60:40		
4	70:30		
5	90:10		
6	95 :5		
7	50 : 50		
8	60 : 40		
9	5:95		
10	40 : 60		
11	40 :60		
12	40 : 60		

Table 11. RS/RR Ratios of compounds 1-12.

5.2. Biology

The synthesized thiazolidine compounds were evaluated for their antioxidant properties using the classical 1,1-diphenyl-2-picrylhydrazyl DPPH radical scavenging assay and by determining the cupric reducing antioxidant capacity (CUPRAC) of the compounds.

5.2.1. The DPPH assay

The DPPH assay, a very commonly used methodology for analyzing the antioxidant activity of molecules, consists on the determination of the compound concentration that is capable of scavenging 50% of the DPPH radicals in solution by monitoring the decrease of absorbance at 517 nm that belongs to the stable free radicals.

Aqueous DMSO was chosen as a solvent, as the compounds are not soluble in water at physiological pH. The DMSO concentration was increased up to 5% (v/v) to dissolve a maximum number of thiazolidine carboxylic acids. Yet, even at this elevated DMSO content, five compounds (from **5** to **9**) did not dissolve and could not be evaluated. IC_{50} values were determined (Table 12) and compared to the antioxidant capacity of butylated hydroxytoluene (BHT) which is classical reference used for DPPH assays and cysteine since the synthesized structures are meant to be cysteine prodrugs.

 IC_{50} values were calculated by plotting the DPPH scavenging capacity versus compound concentration using a logarithmic scale. The characteristic graphic is a sigmoid curve with two plateaus: the first one corresponding to low and the second to high compound concentrations. The half inhibition concentration (IC_{50}) of a compound is the concentration obtained for 50% of scavenging. This value can be easily determined graphically using the sigmoidal curve as shown in Figure 15.



Figure 15. IC₅₀ determination of compound 12.

Cysteine, with an IC₅₀ value of $18.4\pm0.1 \mu$ M gave the highest antioxidant capacity, an expected behavior that can be attributed to the its thiol function. The thiazolidine compounds were also found to have a greater antioxidant capacity when compared to BHT. The promising antioxidant property that thiazolidine molecules exhibited strongly suggested a ring opening reaction in aqueous medium that leads to the antioxidant cysteine molecule.

To check that the antioxidant capacity is due to the ring opening reaction that easily occurs in aqueous medium, the DPPH assay was also carried out by dissolving the samples in methanol. The significant increase of the IC_{50} values observed for compounds **1**, **2**, **10** and **11** while cysteines's activity remained constant supported the hypothesis that the high antioxidant activity observed in aqueous DMSO can be attributed to the release of cysteine (Table 12).

Table 12. IC50 values of the compounds 1-4 and 10-12 against BHT molecule inDPPH assay.

	BHT	cysteine	1	2	3	4	10	11	12
IC ₅₀ in DMSO (mM)	not soluble	18.4 ±0.1	45.2 ±0.3	29.5 ±0.5	39.0 ±0.3	37.7 ±0.1	38.3 ±0.4	46.8 ±0.8	61.7 ±2.3
IC ₅₀ in methanol (mM)	517 ±25	19.2±0.5	844.2±2.2	342.7±8.4	46.1±0.9	39.1±1.3	343.4±12	>1mM	46.2±1.4

To confirm this hypothesis an HPLC analysis was also carried out with the tested compounds. The analysis was performed either with samples being dissolved in aqueous DMSO or methanol before injection. Given that the DPPH assay requires an incubation time of 50 minutes, HPLC analyses of the samples were also repeated 50 minutes after dissolution. Since the ring opening reaction corresponds to the reverse of the cyclization reaction, cysteine release was controlled by monitoring the peak corresponding to the aldehyde obtained after ring cleavage. Results are summarized in Table 13.

Compound			1			2			3			4	
Time (min.)		0'	20 '	50'	0'	20 '	50'	0'	20'	50'	0'	20 '	50 '
5% ag DMSO	% Thiazolidine	76.3	27.8	14	83	44	27	6,8	5,9	5,6	19.0	16	14
570 aq DM50	% Aldehyde	17	69	85	17	56	73	92	93	94	81.0	84	86
MOH	% Thiazolidine	96,1	95,7	95,4	100	99	97	4.0	4,1	4,2	71	74	76
меон	% Aldehyde	3,8	4,3	4,6	0	1,4	2,2	96	96	96	22	18	16
Compound			10			11			12				
Time (min.)		0'	20 '	50'	0'	20'	50'	0'	20'	50'			
	% Thiazolidine	54	39	38	84	50	29	84	57	12			
5% ag DMSO	% Aldehyde	46	60	61	11	46	67	8,8	39	86			
570 aq DM50													
MOH	% Thiazolidine	100	99	98	100	100	99	16	25	38			
Meon	% Aldehyde	0	0,5	1,3	0	0	0,5	84	74	60			

Table 13. HPLC analysis of the compounds 1-4 and 10-12 after dissolution in 5% aqueous DMSO or methanol at time zero, 20 minutes after dissolution and 50 minutes after dissolution.

Chromatograms obtained for the samples were consistent with the IC_{50} values obtained with the DPPH assay. First of all, in aqueous DMSO, all of the tested thiazolidines were shown to be progressively converted into cysteine and benzaldehyde since HPLC analyses carried out 50 minutes after dissolution demonstrated a remarkable increase in the benzaldehyde ratio when compared to the one observed at time zero. These results strongly support that the significant antioxidant activity observed for all compounds with the DPPH assay in this solvent is related to the release of cysteine in the medium.

Concerning the results obtained when samples were dissolved in methanol, they indicate a ring opening for compounds **3**, **4** and **12**. For the other tested compounds (**1**, **2**, **10** and **11**) benzaldehyde ratios remained insignificant even for injections realized 50 minutes after compound dissolution, indicating the absence of cleavage for the heterocycles in these conditions. The noticeable increase in the IC₅₀ values obtained for compounds **1**, **2**, **10** and **11** can thus be explained by the lack of immediate cysteine release in these conditions.

The reason of the differences in cysteine releasing ability of the synthesized thiazolidines observed in methanol remain unexplained, since no obvious relationship between the structures and the ring cleavage phenomenon could be found (Figure 16).

a) Cysteine releasing structures in MeOH



b) Stable thiazolidines in MeOH



Figure 16. (a) Structures capable of releasing cysteine in methanol (MeOH). (b) Structures that are stable and do not open to release cysteine in MeOH.

For instance, while the o,m-difluoro substituted derivative **11** was shown to be stable in methanol even 50 minutes after dissolution, its close analogue **12** (o,m-dichloro substituted thiazolidine) exhibited aldehyde peaks very quickly.

As a result, it is possible to assume that the antioxidant activity determined *via* the DPPH assay is closely related to the cysteine releasing capacity of the thiazolidine compounds.

5.2.2. The Cupric ion reducing antioxidant capacity (CUPRAC) assay

The antioxidant capacities of the synthesized thiazolidines were also evaluated using the CUPRAC assay. This method developed by Apak *et al.* (103) consists of monitoring the Cu(I)-neocuproine complex formation at 450 nm, a complex that results from the reduction of the Cu(II)-neocuproine complex in an ammonium acetate buffer in the presence of a reducing agent. To determine the antioxidant capacity of the authors suggest to calculate the trolox equivalent antioxidant capacity, namely the TEAC coefficient, a coefficient that corresponds to the ratio of the molar extinction coefficients of the sample and trolox (TEAC= $\epsilon_{sample}/\epsilon_{Trolox}$).

Samples were prepared in aqueous 5% DMSO and methanol and TEAC coefficient were determined for both conditions (Table 14).

Compound	cysteine	1	2	3	4	5	6
TEAC _{MeOH}	0.63±0.09	1.54 ±0.12	0.96 ±0.06	0.57±0.05	0.80±0.07	1.50 ±0.07	1.52 ±0.01
TEAC _{DMSO}	0.49±0.03	0.99±0.05	0.79±0.04	0.75±0.04	1.00±0.05	ND	ND
Compound	cysteine	8	9	10	11	12	
TEAC _{MeOH}	0.63±0.09	1.22 ±0.06	0.74 ±0.04	0.83 ±0.09	0.83 ±0.06	0.93 ±0.05	
TEAC _{DMSO}	0.49±0.03	ND	ND	1.05±0.1	0.84±0.05	0.99±0.05	

Table 14. TEAC coefficients of the compounds 1-6, 8-12 and cysteine which weredissolved either in aqueous DMSO (%5, v/v) or in MeOH.

The TEAC_{MeOH} of compound **7** and the TEAC_{DMSO} of compounds **5-10** could not be determined due to solubility issues. In both aqueous phase and methanol, the antioxidant capacities of all samples were found to be greater than cysteine, a finding that supports that the antioxidant capacity of thiazolidines should not be related only to cysteine release and that the thiazolidine moiety itself could reduce Cu (II). Moreover in methanol four compounds (**1**, **5**, **6**, **8**) were found to have TEAC_{MeOH} coefficient values greater than one, indicating an antioxidant capacity even better than trolox, a property that can again be attributed to the presence of the thiazolidine ring.

5.3. Conclusion

In this work, a series of 2-phenyl thiazolidine carboxylic acid derivatives (1-12) were synthesized by condensing *L*-cysteine with a series of mono or disubstituted benzaldehyde derivatives by known methods in the literature [19]. The compounds 1-12 were known compounds on the other hand they were tested for the *in vitro* antioxidant activity for the first time. The antioxidative properties of these compounds were investigated using the DPPH scavenging and CUPRAC assays.

DPPH scavenging assays were performed by dissolving the molecules in two different solvents: 5% DMSO and methanol. Samples dissolved in aqueous medium demonstrated a high antioxidant capacity whereas only compound **3**, **4** and **12** exhibited similar results when dissolved in MeOH. The differences in the biological activities were attributed to the capacity of cysteine release of the molecules. Indeed, an HPLC analysis carried out by dissolving the compounds in 5% DMSO and MeOH revealed that the cysteine releasing is solvent dependent, a property that has been closely related to the drop of activity observed for compounds **1**, **2**, **10** and **11** when they were dissolved in MeOH. Thus, the significant antioxidant activity with the DPPH assay can be related to the release of cysteine in the medium.

CUPRAC assay were also carried out in both solvents. Results indicated that antioxidant activities better than that of Trolox control compound, an antioxidant analog of vitamin E, can give are obtained in conditions for which thiazolidines were shown to remain cyclic (1 and 2). These findings suggested that the thiazolidine ring itself can also have antioxidant properties *via* pathways that might be different from cysteine's.

Thus, this study shows that the antioxidant capacity of thiazolidine derivatives is related not only to the *L*-cysteine release but also to the reducing capacity of the thiazolidine ring itself.



6. REFERENCES

- Sies H. ed. Biochemistry of oxidative stress. Angewandte Chemie International Edition in English, Germany. 1986; 25: 1058-71.
- Kim YG, Kim SK, Kwon JW, Park OJ, Kim SG, Kim YC, et al. Effects of cysteine on amino acid concentrations and transsulfuration enzyme activities in rat liver with protein-calorie malnutrition. Life Sciences. 2003; 72: 1171-81.
- Han D, Sen CK, Roy S, Kobayashi MS, Tritschler HJ, Packer L. Protection against glutamate-induced cytotoxicity in C6 glial cells by thiol antioxidants. American Journal of Physiology-Regulatory Integrative and Comparative Physiology. 1997; 273: R1771-8.
- Lynch SM, Campione AL, Moore MK. Plasma thiols inhibit hemin-dependent oxidation of human low-density lipoprotein. Biochimica Et Biophysica Acta-Molecular and Cell Biology of Lipids. 2000; 1485: 11-22.
- 5) Patterson RA, Lamb DJ, Leake DS. Mechanisms by which cysteine can inhibit or promote the oxidation of low density lipoprotein by copper. 2003; 169: 87-94.
- 6) Lynch SM, Frei B. Physiological thiol compounds exert pro- and anti-oxidant effects, respectively, on iron- and copper-dependent oxidation of human lowdensity lipoprotein. Biochimica Et Biophysica Acta-Lipids and Lipid Metabolism. 1997; 1345: 215-21.
- Cacciatore I, Cornacchia C, Pinnen F, Mollica A, Di Stefano A. Prodrug Approach for Increasing Cellular Glutathione Levels. Molecules. 2010; 15: 1242-64.
- Kozak EM, Tate SS. Glutathione-degrading enzymes of microvillus membranes. Journal of Biological Chemistry. 1982; 257: 6322-7.
- Meister A. Glutathione deficiency produced by inhibition of its synthesis, and its reversal - applications in research and therapy. Pharmacology and Therapeutics. 1991; 51:155-94.

- 10) Wang W, Ballatori N. Endogenous glutathione conjugates: Occurrence and biological functions. Pharmacological Reviews. 1998; 50: 335-55.
- Fang YZ, Yang S, Wu G. Free radicals, antioxidants, and nutrition. Nutrition.
 2002; 18: 872-9.
- 12) Wu G, Fang Y-Z, Yang S, Lupton JR, Turner ND. Glutathione metabolism and its implications for health. Journal of Nutrition. 2004; 134: 489-92.
- 13) Lei XG. In vivo antioxidant role of glutathione peroxidase: Evidence from knockout mice. Protein Sensors and Reactive Oxygen Species, Pt a, Selenoproteins and Thioredoxin. In: Sies H. Packer L. (eds). Methods in Enzymology, 347: pp 213-25 2002.
- 14) Hinchman CA, Ballatori N. Glutathione conjugation and conversion to mercapturic acids can occur a an intrahepatic process. Journal of Toxicology and Environmental Health. 1994; 41: 387-409.
- 15) Liu P, Chen D, Zhang S, Zhou R, Ren W, Ouyang L, et al. Organocatalytic Diastereoselective Multicomponent Domino Knoevenagel/Diels-Alder Reaction: Synthesis of Densely Functionalized Spiro 5.5 undecane. Current Organic Synthesis. 2015; 12: 88-94.
- 16) Barve A, Lowry M, Escobedo JO, Huynh KT, Hakuna L, Strongin RM. Differences in heterocycle basicity distinguish homocysteine from cysteine using aldehyde-bearing fluorophores. Chemical Communications. 2014; 50: 8219-22.
- 17) Frimayanti N, Lee VS, Zain SM, Wahab HA, Abd. Rahman N. 2D, 3D-QSAR, and pharmacophore studies on thiazolidine-4-carboxylic acid derivatives as neuraminidase inhibitors in H3N2 influenza virus. Medicinal Chemistry Research. 2014; 23:1447-53.
- 18) Soares MIL, Brito AF, Laranjo M, Paixao JA, Filomena Botelho M, Pinho e Melo TMVD. Chiral 6,7-bis(hydroxymethyl)-1H,3H-pyrrolo 1,2-c thiazoles with anti-breast cancer properties. European Journal of Medicinal Chemistry. 2013; 60: 254-62.

- Onen-Bayram FE, Durmaz I, Scherman D, Herscovici J, Cetin-Atalay R. A novel thiazolidine compound induces caspase-9 dependent apoptosis in cancer cells. Bioorganic and Medicinal Chemistry. 2012; 20: 5094-102.
- 20) Erdelmeier I, Daunay S, Lebel R, Farescour L, Yadan J-C. Cysteine as a sustainable sulfur reagent for the protecting-group-free synthesis of sulfurcontaining amino acids: biomimetic synthesis of L-ergothioneine in water. Green Chemistry. 2012; 14 :2256-65.
- Liu Y, Jing F, Xu Y, Xie Y, Shi F, Fang H, et al. Design, synthesis and biological activity of thiazolidine-4-carboxylic acid derivatives as novel influenza neuraminidase inhibitors. Bioorganic and Medicinal Chemistry. 2011; 19: 2342-8.
- 22) Soares MIL, Brito AF, Laranjo M, Abrantes AM, Filomena Botelho M, Paixao JA, et al. Chiral 6-hydroxymethyl-1H,3H-pyrrolo 1,2-c thiazoles: Novel antitumor DNA monoalkylating agents. European Journal of Medicinal Chemistry. 2010; 45: 4676-81.
- 23) Lopes SMM, Laranjo M, Serra AC, Abrantes AM, d'A. Rocha Gonsalves AM, Botelho MF, et al. Synthesis and Biological Evaluation of New Naphthoquinone-Containing Pyrrolo-Thiazoles as Anticancer Agents. Journal of Heterocyclic Chemistry. 2010; 47(4):960-6.
- 24) Lu Y, Wang Z, Li C-M, Chen J, Dalton JT, Li W, et al. Synthesis, in vitro structure-activity relationship, and in vivo studies of 2-arylthiazolidine-4carboxylic acid amides as anticancer agents. Bioorganic and Medicinal Chemistry. 2010; 8: 477-95.
- 25) Nunes CM, Silva MR, Beja AM, Fausto R, Pinho e Melo TMVD. Cycloaddition of trifluoromethyl azafulvenium methides: synthesis of new trifluoromethylpyrrole-annulated derivatives. Tetrahedron Letters. 2010; 51: 411-4.
- 26) Onen FE, Boum Y, Jacquement C, Spanedda MV, Jaber N, Scherman D, et al. Design, synthesis and evaluation of potent thymidylate synthase X inhibitors. Bioorganic & Medicinal Chemistry Letters. 2008; 18: 3628-31.

- 27) Li W, Lu Y, Wang Z, Dalton JT, Miller DD. Synthesis and antiproliferative activity of thiazolidine analogs for melanoma. Bioorganic and Medicinal Chemistry Letters. 2007; 17: 4113-7.
- 28) Gududuru V, Hurh E, Dalton JT, Miller DD. Discovery of 2-arylthiazolidine-4carboxylic acid amides as a new class of cytotoxic agents for prostate cancer. Journal of Medicinal Chemistry. 2005; 48: 2584-8.
- 29) Refouvelet B, Pellegrini N, Robert JF, Crini G, Blacque O, Kubicki MM. Synthesis and stereochemical studies of 2-substituted thiazolidine-4carboxamide derivatives. Journal of Heterocyclic Chemistry. 2000; 37:1425-30.
- Gyorgydeak Z, Kajtarperedy M, Kajtar J, Kajtar M. synthesis and chiroptical properties of n-acetyl-2-aryl-4-thiazolidinecarboxylic acids. Liebigs Annalen Der Chemie. 1987; 11: 927-34.
- Song Z-C, Guo Y, Liu W-H, Hu L-C, Cai S-N. (2R,4R)-3-(tert-Butoxycarbonyl)-2-(3-chlorophenyl)-1,3-thiazolidine-4-ca rboxylic acid monohydrate. Acta Crystallographica Section E-Structure Reports Online. 2010; 66: O2934-U1221.
- 32) Han X, Qiu C-L, Gong X, Yang X-X, Wang D-X. Synthesis of heterocyclic residue containing and backbone atypically cyclized RGD related peptides. Acta Chimica Sinica. 2008; 66 :257-65.
- 33) Prabhakar YS, Jain P, Khan ZK, Haq W, Katti SB. Synthesis and QSAR studies on the antifungal activity of 2,3,4-substituted thiazolidines. Qsar & Combinatorial Science. 2003; 22:456-65.
- 34) Song Z-C, Ma G-Y, Lv P-C, Li H-Q, Xiao Z-P, Zhu H-L. Synthesis, structure and structure-activity relationship analysis of 3-tert-butoxycarbonyl-2arylthiazolidine-4-carboxylic acid derivatives as potential antibacterial agents. European Journal of Medicinal Chemistry. 2009; 44 :3903-8.

- 35) Khan KM, Zia U, Lodhi MA, Ali M, Choudhary MI, Atta ur R, et al. Successful computer guided planned synthesis of (4R)-thiazolidine carboxylic acid and its 2-substituted analogues as urease inhibitors. Molecular Diversity. 2006; 10: 223-31.
- 36) Ha YM, Park YJ, Lee JY, Park D, Choi YJ, Lee EK, et al. Design, synthesis and biological evaluation of 2-(substituted phenyl)thiazolidine-4-carboxylic acid derivatives as novel tyrosinase inhibitors. Biochimie. 2012; 94:533-40.
- 37) Paul B. Korytnyk W. Cysteine derivatives with reactive groups as potential antitumor agents. Journal of Medicinal Chemistry. 1976; 19:1002-1007.
- 38) Nagasawa HT, Goon DJW, Muldoon WP, Zera RT. 2-substituted thiazolidine-4(R)-carboxylic acids as prodrugs of l-cysteine - protection of mice against acetaminophen hepatotoxicity. Journal of Medicinal Chemistry. 1984; 27:591-6.
- 39) Campiglia P, Esposito C, Scrima M, Gomez-Monterrey I, Bertamino A, Grieco P, et al. Conformational stability of A beta-(25-35) in the presence of thiazolidine derivatives. Chemical Biology & Drug Design. 2007; 69: 111-8.
- 40) McCleverty J. In: Greenwood,NN, Earnshaw,A (eds). Chemistry of the elements. Nature, 314: 30, 1984.
- 41) Anderson JW, ed Requirements of organisms for sulfur. Sulfur in biology. Baltimore: University Park Press; 1978.
- 42) Brosnan JT, Brosnan ME. The sulfur-containing amino acids: An overview. Journal of Nutrition. 2006; 136: 1636S-40S.
- DH. B. Literature review on sulfur in nonruminant nutrition. Des Moines: Grant-Aid-Committee, National Feed Ingredients Association; 1977.
- 44) McNally ME, Atkinson SA, Cole DEC. Contribution of sulfate and sulfoesters to total sulfur intake in infants fed human-milk. Journal of Nutrition. 1991; 121: 1250-4.

- 45) Chinoim N, Lefroy RDB, Blair GJ. Effect of crop duration and soil type on the ability of soil sulfur tests to predict plant response to sulfur. Australian Journal of Soil Research. 1997; 35:1131-41.
- 46) Komarnisky LA, Christopherson RJ, Basu TK. Sulfur: Its clinical and toxicologic aspect's. Nutrition. 2003; 19: 54-61.
- 47) Hollaender A. Radiation Damage and Sulphydryl Compounds. In: Doherty D, ed. Vienna, Austria: International Atomic Energy Agency 1969.
- 48) Dickinson DA, Forman HJ. Cellular glutathione and thiols metabolism. Biochemical Pharmacology. 2002; 64: 1019-26.
- 49) Turell L, Radi R, Alvarez B. The thiol pool in human plasma: The central contribution of albumin to redox processes. Free Radical Biology and Medicine. 2013; 65:244-53.
- 50) Forman HJ, Fukuto JM, Torres M. Redox signaling: thiol chemistry defines which reactive oxygen and nitrogen species can act as second messengers. American Journal of Physiology-Cell Physiology. 2004; 287: C246-C56.
- 51) Schafer FQ, Buettner GR. Redox environment of the cell as viewed through the redox state of the glutathione disulfide/glutathione couple. Free Radical Biology and Medicine. 2001; 30: 1191-212.
- 52) Holmgren A, Johansson C, Berndt C, Lonn ME, Hudemann C, Lillig CH. Thiol redox control via thioredoxin and glutaredoxin systems. Biochemical Society Transactions. 2005; 33: 1375-7.
- 53) Filomeni G, Rotilio G, Ciriolo MR. Disulfide relays and phosphorylative cascades: partners in redox-mediated signaling pathways. Cell Death and Differentiation. 2005; 12: 1555-63.
- 54) Pace NJ, Weerapana E. Diverse Functional Roles of Reactive Cysteines. Acs Chemical Biology. 2013; 8: 283-96.

- 55) Drabkin HJ, Rajbhandary UL. Initiation of protein synthesis in mammalian cells with codons other than AUG and amino acids other than methionine. Molecular and Cellular Biology. 1998; 18: 5140-7.
- 56) Levine RL, Mosoni L, Berlett BS, Stadtman ER. Methionine residues as endogenous antioxidants in proteins. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America. 1996; 93: 15036-40.
- 57) Lu SC. Regulation of hepatic glutathione synthesis: current concepts and controversies. Faseb Journal. 1999; 13: 1169-83.
- 58) Cantoni GL. The Nature of the Active Methyl Donor Formed Enzymatically from L-Methionine and Adenosinetriphosphate. Journal of the American Chemical Society. 1952; 74: 2942-3.
- 59) Lutterodt A, Nattel S, McLeod PJ. Duration of antihypertensive effect of a single daily dose of hydrochlorothiazide. Clinical Pharmacology and Therapeutics. 1980; 27: 324-7.
- 60) Baeurle SA, Kiselev MG, Makarova ES, Nogovitsin EA. Effect of the counterion behavior on the frictional-compressive properties of chondroitin sulfate solutions. Polymer. 2009; 50: 1805-13.
- 61) Marino SM, Gladyshev VN. Analysis and Functional Prediction of Reactive Cysteine Residues. Journal of Biological Chemistry. 2012; 287: 4419-25.
- 62) Zmizaga C, Steinacker A, Castillo Jd. The role of sulfhydryl and disulfide groups of membrane proteins in electrical conduction and chemical transmission Puerto Rico Health Sciences Journal. 1984; 3: 125-39.
- 63) Allison AC, Cecil R. The function of the unreactive thiol groups of normal adult human haemoglobin. Biochemical Journal. 1962; 82: 255–262.
- 64) Murphy MP. Mitochondrial Thiols in Antioxidant Protection and Redox Signaling: Distinct Roles for Glutathionylation and Other Thiol Modifications. Antioxidants and Redox Signaling. 2012; 16:476-95.

- 65) Jortzik E, Wang L, Becker K. Thiol-Based Posttranslational Modifications in Parasites. Antioxidants and Redox Signaling. 2012; 17: 657-73.
- 66) Jakob U, Muse W, Eser M, Bardwell JCA. Chaperone activity with a redox switch. Cell. 1999; 96: 341-52.
- 67) Ilbert M, Horst J, Ahrens S, Winter J, Graf PCF, Lilie H, et al. The redox-switch domain of Hsp33 functions as dual stress sensor. Nature Structural and Molecular Biology. 2007; 14: 556-63.
- 68) Kroencke K-D, Klotz L-O. Zinc Fingers as Biologic Redox Switches? Antioxidants and Redox Signaling. 2009; 11: 1015-27.
- 69) Klug A, Rhodes D. Zinc fingers A novel protein fold for nucleic-acid recognition. Cold Spring Harbor Symposia on Quantitative Biology. 1987; 52: 473-82.
- 70) Albeck A, Kliper S. Mechanism of cysteine protease inactivation by peptidyl epoxides. Biochemical Journal. 1997; 322: 879-84.
- 71) Ashraf SS, Galadari S, Patel M. Protein S-thiolation and depletion of intracellular glutathione in skin fibroblasts exposed to various sources of oxidative stress. Environmental Toxicology and Pharmacology. 2006; 22: 75-9.
- 72) Mailloux RJ, Xiaolei J, Willmore WG, Redox regulation of mitochondrial function with emphasis on cysteine oxidation reactions. Redox Biology. 2013; 2:123-39.
- 73) Winterbourn CC, Metodiewa D. Reactivity of biologically important thiol compounds with superoxide and hydrogen peroxide. Free Radical Biology and Medicine. 1999; 27: 322-8.
- 74) Richman PG, Meister A. Regulation of gamma-glutamyl cysteine synthetase by nonallosteric feedback inhibition by glutathione. The Journal of Biological Chemistry. 1975; 250: 1422-6.

- 75) PukaSundvall M, Eriksson P, Nilsson M, Sandberg M, Lehmann A. Neurotoxicity of cysteine: Interaction with glutamate. Brain Research. 1995; 705: 65-70.
- 76) Janaky R, Varga V, Hermann A, Saransaari P, Oja SS. Mechanisms of Lcysteine neurotoxicity. Neurochemical Research. 2000; 25:1397-405.
- 77) Yang EY, Campbell A, Bondy SC. Configuration of thiols dictates their ability to promote iron-induced reactive oxygen species generation. Redox Report. 2000; 5: 371-5.
- 78) Kachur AV, Koch CJ, Biaglow JE. Mechanism of copper-catalyzed autoxidation of cysteine. Free Radical Research. 1999; 31: 23-34.
- 79) Jocaleyn P. C. The biochemistry of the SH group. Radioprotection by thiols and disulfides. New York: Academic Press, 1972; 94-115.
- 80) Harman LS, Mottley C, Mason RP. Free-radical metabolites of 1-cysteine oxidation. Journal of Biological Chemistry, 1984; 259: 5606-11.
- Wang XF, Cynader MS. Pyruvate released by astrocytes protects neurons from copper-catalyzed cysteine neurotoxicity. Journal of Neuroscience. 2001; 21: 3322-31.
- Park S, Imlay JA. High levels of intracellular cysteine promote oxidative DNA damage by driving the Fenton reaction. Journal of Bacteriology. 2003; 185:1942-50.
- Bonanomi L, Gazzaniga A. Toxicological, pharmacokinetic and metabolic studies on acetylcysteine. European Journal of Respiratory Diseases. 1980; 61:45-51.
- Noszal B, Visky D, Kraszni M. Population, acid-base, and redox properties of N-acetylcysteine conformers. Journal of Medicinal Chemistry. 2000; 43: 2176-82.

- 85) Griffith OW, Meister A. Glutathione: interorgan translocation, turnover, and metabolism. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences USA. 1979; 76: 5606-10.
- L P. Oral or intravenous N-acetylcysteine for acetaminophen poisoning? Annals of Emergency Medicine. 2005; 45: 409-13.
- 87) Breitkreutz R, Pittack N, Nebe CT, Schuster D, Brust J, Beichert M, et al. Improvement of immune functions in HIV infection by sulfur supplementation: Two randomized trials. Journal of Molecular Medicine. 2000; 78: 55-62.
- 88) De Rosa SC, Zaretsky MD, Dubs JG, Roederer M, Anderson M, Green A, et al. N-acetylcysteine replenishes glutathione in HIV infection. European Journal of Clinical Investigation. 2000; 30: 915-29.
- 89) Ratjen F, Wonne R, Posselt HG, Stover B, Hofmann D, Bender SW. A Doubleblind placebo controlled trial with oral ambroxol and n-acetylcysteine for mucolytic treatment in cystic-fibrosis. European Journal of Pediatrics. 1985; 144: 374-8.
- 90) Tirouvanziam R, Conrad CK, Bottiglieri T, Herzenberg LA, Moss RB. Highdose oral N-acetylcysteine, a glutathione prodrug, modulates inflammation in cystic fibrosis. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America. 2006; 103: 4628-33.
- 91) Kasielski M, Nowak D. Long-term administration of N-acetylcysteine decreases hydrogen peroxide exhalation in subjects with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. Respiratory Medicine. 2001; 95: 448-56.
- 92) De Mattia G, Bravi MC, Laurenti O, Cassone-Faldetta M, Armiento A, Ferri C, Balsano F. et al. Influence of reduced glutathione infusion on glucose metabolism in patients with non-insulindependent diabetes mellitus. Metabolism. 1998; 47: 448-56.
- 93) Bridgeman MME, Marsden M, Macnee W, Flenley DC, Ryle AP. Cysteine and glutathione concentrations in plasma and bronchoalveolar lavage fluid after treatment with n-acetylcysteine. Thorax. 1991; 46: 39-42.

- 94) Jones CM, Lawrence A, Wardman P, Burkitt MJ. Kinetics of superoxide scavenging by glutathione: an evaluation of its role in the removal of mitochondrial superoxide. Biochemical Society Transactions. 2003; 31: 1337-9.
- 95) Roberts JC, Nagasawa HT, Zera RT, Fricke RF, Goon DJW. Prodrugs of 1cysteine as protective agents against acetaminophen-induced hepatotoxicity - 2-(polyhydroxyalkyl)thiazolidine-4(R)-carboxylic and 2-(polyacetoxyalkyl)thiazolidine-4(R)-carboxylic acids. Journal of Medicinal Chemistry. 1987; 30:1891-6.
- 96) Wu G, Fang YZ, Yang S, Lupton JR, Turner ND. Glutathione metabolism and its implications for health. Journal of Nutrition. 2004; 134: 489-92.
- 97) Srinivasan C, Williams WM, Nagasawa HT, Chen TS. Effects of 2(RS)-npropylthiazolidine-4(R)-carboxylic acid on extrahepatic sulfhydryl levels in mice treated with acetaminophena. Biochemical Pharmacology. 2001; 61: 925-31.
- 98) Srinivasan C, Williams WM, Ray MB, Chen TS. Prevention of acetaminopheninduced liver toxicity by 2(R,S)-n-propylthiazolidine-4(R)-carboxylic acid in mice. Biochemical Pharmacology. 2001; 61: 245-52.
- 99) Yang Y, Liu W-S, Han B-Q, Sun H-Z. Antioxidative properties of a newly synthesized 2-glucosaminethiazolidine-4(R)-carboxylic acid (GlcNH(2)CYS) in mice. Nutrition Research. 2006; 26: 369-77.
- 100) Kallen R.G.. Mechanism of reactions involving Schiff base intermediates. Thiazolidine formation from L-cysteine and formaldehyde. Journal of the American Chemical Society. 1971; 93: 6236-48.
- 101) Akter MS, Ahmed M, Eun J-B. Solvent effects on antioxidant properties of persimmon (Diospyros kaki L. cv. Daebong) seeds. International Journal of Food Science and Technology. 2010; 45: 2258-64.

- 102) Celep E, Aydin A, Yesilada E. A comparative study on the in vitro antioxidant potentials of three edible fruits: Cornelian cherry, Japanese persimmon and cherry laurel. Food and Chemical Toxicology. 2012; 50: 3329-35.
- 103) Apak R, Guclu K, Ozyurek M, Karademir SE. Novel total antioxidant capacity index for dietary polyphenols and vitamins C and E, using their cupric ion reducing capability in the presence of neocuproine: CUPRAC method. Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry. 2004; 52: 7970-81.
- 104) Terzuoli L, Leoncini R, Pagani R, Guerranti R, Vannoni D, Ponticelli F, et al. Some chemical properties and biological role of thiazolidine compounds. Life Sciences. 1998; 63: 1251-67.

ÖZGEÇMİŞ

Kişisel Bilgiler

Adı	Reyhan	Soyadı	Kahveci Ulugöl
Doğum Yeri	İstanbul	Doğum Tarihi	10.03.1984
Uyruğu	TC	TC Kimlik No	41203980614
E-posta	reyhan.kahveci@ hotmail.com	Telefon	05327056152

Öğrenim Durumu

Derece	Alan	Mezun olduğu kurumun adı	Mezuniyet yılı
Yüksek lisans	Farmasötik kimya	Yeditepe Üniversitesi	2015
Lisans	Kimya	Dokuz Eylül Üniversitesi	2009
Lise	Fen bilimleri	Özel Kültür Lisesi	2002

Bildiği Yabancı Diller	Yabancı Dil Sınav Notu
İnglizce	KPDS: 85/100
Fransızca	B+

İş Deneyimi

Görev	Kurum	Süre
Araștırma Görevlisi	Yeditepe Üniversitesi	3 yıl
Kimyasal Analiz Sorumlusu	Yeditepe Üniversitesi	3 yıl 6 ay

Bilgisayar Bilgisi

Program	Kullanma Becerisi
Microsoft Office Programları	Çok iyi
Molekül Çizim Programları	Çok iyi

